THE IDENTIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF NOVEL ANTIMICROBIAL PEPTIDES FROM THE ATLANTIC COD (Gadus montua) GENOME









The identification and characterization of novel antimicrobial peptides from the Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) genome

Mitchell J. Browne (B.Sc. Hons)

February 17, 2011, Memorial University of Newfoundland

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Master of Science

Department of Biochemistry

Memorial University of Newfoundland

St. John's, NL A1B 3X9

#### Abstract

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are short peptides that exhibit broad-spectrum activity against a variety of microhes including bacteria viruses fungi and protozoa Based on previously generated Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) expressed sequence tags (ESTs). I identified sequences representing four novel AMP-like transcripts [a peptide with sequence similarity to lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP), a transcript with sequence similarity to the potato (Solanum tuberoram) AMP snakin-2, as well as two piscidin-like peptides. The two pentides with similarity to the piscidins, a family of small cationic AMPs from fish, were selected for further study. I obtained full-length cDNA sequences for two paralogous piscidin-like transcripts using bi-directional rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE). The Atlantic cod paralogues were termed gaduscidins (GAD-1 and GAD-2), derived from the genus name Gashs. Quantitative reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction (OPCR) was used in transcript expression studies of GAD-1 and GAD-2. I examined the constitutive expression of these transcripts in several tissues from non-stressed juvenile cod. Transcript expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 was also examined in immune tissues following intraperitoneal (IP) injection of formalin-killed stynical decompany solutonicidia (ASAL), or thesebutehuffered roline (PBS injection control). Potative GAD-1 and GAD-2 mature mentides were chemically somthesized for structural characterization. first using circular dichnoism (CD) spectroscopy. followed by solution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). In addition to structural characterization, functional characterization was also carried out to determine hemolytic and antimicrobial activity of GAD.1 and GAD.2. A hemolytic assay against Atlantic cod red blood cells (RBCs) was performed, as well as a minimal

# inhibitory concentration (MIC) assay for both GAD-1 and GAD-2 with Staphylococcast

## intermedius and Escherichia coil.

### Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Valerie Booth and Dr. Matthew Rise for their guidance and support. I would also like to thank Charles Y. Feng, Donna Jackman, and Dr. Michael Hayley, who helped me greatly throughout my project. Similarly, I would like to thank Tiano S. Hori, Dr. Marlies Rise, Jennifer R. Hall (Ocean Sciences Centre, Memorial University, NL, Canada), and Dr. David Heeley, Craig Skinner, Marie Codner, (Biochemistry Department, Memorial University, NL, Canada) as well ask Dr. Stewart Johnson (Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Pacific Biological Station, Nanaimo, B.C. Canada) for their help. I am also grateful for the funding I received from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) as well as funding obtained for this project from Canada Research Chairs to both supervisors. In addition, I would like to thank LGL ltd. for the scholarship I received (The LGL Limited Scholarshin in Marine Science). The Atlantic Cod Genomics and Broodstock Development Project (CGP). Juhich is funded by Genome Atlantic, Genome Canada, and the Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency (ACOA)], facilitated the use of RNA samples used in this study. I would also like to thank the Dr. Joe Brown Aquatic Research Building (IBARR: Ocean Sciences Centre, Memorial University) staff as well as Jannifer Kimball. Sonhis Hubert, and Dr. Sharen Bowman at The Atlantic Genome Centre (Halifax, NS) for their involvement in the creation of the CGP EST database.

Note: A major portion of this thesis (gene expression studies, sequence characterization, etc.) contributed to the Developmental and Comparative Immunology paper entitled "Characterization and expression studies of Gadawcidin-1 and Gadawcidin-2, paraloguns antimicrobial peptide-like transcripts from Atlantic cod (Gadam methua) [Browne et al., 2010 (in press)]".

Table of Contents	
Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	4
Table of Contents	6
List of Figures	9
List of Supplemental Material	12
List of Abbreviations	13
Chapter 1: Introduction	17
2. Materials and methods	29
2.1. QPCR sample preparation: tissue collection and bacterial an	tigen preparation and
stimulation	29
2.2. Identification of putative transcripts encoding Atlantic cod A	MPs 31
2.3. Determination of full-length cDNA sequences for Atlantic co	od GAD-I
and GAD-2	31
2.4. Effect of nodavirus carrier state on GAD-1 and GAD-2 trans-	cript
expression	37

2.5. GAD-1 and GAD-2 putative open reading frame (ORF) sequence

analysis	38
2.6. Quantitative reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction (QPC	R) 39
2.7. QPCR data collection and statistical analysis	41
2.8. Prediction of mature GAD-1 and GAD-2 peptide sequences	43
2.9. Peptide synthesis and purification	43
2.10. Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy	45
2.11. Solution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)	46
2.12. Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) assay	47
2.13. Hemolytic assay	49
3. Results	51
3.1. Identification of potential AMP-coding transcripts	51
3.2 GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequence identification	52
3.3. GAD-1 and GAD-2 cDNA sequence determination	52
3.4. GAD-1 and GAD-2 constitutive transcript expression	57
3.5. GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression response to bacterial	

antigens

59

and GAD-2	62
3.7. GAD-1 and GAD-2 mature peptide sequence and structure pred	liction 63
3.8. Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy	64
3.9. Preliminary solution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) struct	wrat
characterization of GAD-1 and GAD-2	73
3.10. Determination of minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) for	GAD-1
and GAD-2	80
3.11. Determination of hemolytic activity of GAD-1 and GAD-2	80
4. Discussion	84
References	99
Supplemental material	109

3.6. Nodavirus carrier state and transcript expression of GAD-1

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Four mechanisms by which AMPs may induce pore formation in a	lipid
membrane once threshold concentration is reached	19
Figure 2. A depiction of Atlantic cod (Gashis morhua) internal anatomy	y, including
tissues sampled for this study.	30
Figure 3. The full-length cDNA sequences with putative translations for GAE	0-1 (A), and
GAD-2 (B)	35
Figure 4. An amino acid sequence alignment of GAD-1 and GAD-2 with rela	ted
sequences	54
Figure 5. Molecular phylogenetic analysis of GAD-1 and GAD-2	56
Figure 6. QPCR assessment of constitutive expression of GAD-1 (A) and GA	D-2 (B)
transcripts in multiple tissues	58
Figure 7. QPCR analysis of GAD-1 (A, B) and GAD-2 (C, D) transcript expe	ession in
spleen (A, C) and head kidney (B, D) pre-injection (0 H) and at four time point	its after
intraperitoneal injection of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) or formalin-killed	l, atypical
A. sulmonicidia (ASAL)	58
Figure 8. Helical wheel model of the first 18 residues of putative mature GAI	D-1 (A) and
GAD-2 (B) generated using University of California, Irvine Membrane Protei	n Explorer
Version 3.2 helical wheel applet 6	5
Figure 9. HPLC spectrum of GAD-1 eluted with an acetonitrile gradient	66

q

Figure 10, HPLC spectrum of GAD-2 eluted with an acetonitrile gradient 67

Figure 11. CD spectra of 30 µM GAD-1 dissolved in 20 mM pH 5 dibasic phosphate buffer as well as in the presence of A) 20 % TFE, B) 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC licosomes, and C) 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPG licosomes 68

Figure 12: Graphical representation (A) and corresponding percentage (B) of secondary structural duranteristics of 7.0 µM GAD-1 dissolved in 20 mM pH 5 dhavia; phosphate buffer (PB), as well as in the presence of 20 % TEE, 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC legomese, and 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC lipownese **99** 

Figure 13. CD spectra of 30 µM GAD-2 dissolved in 20 mM pH 5 dibasic phosphate buffer as well as in the presence of A) 20 % TFE, B) 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC linesomes, and C) 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPG liposomes **71** 

Figure 14. Graphical representation (A) and corresponding percentages (B) of secondary structural durancetristics of 20 µM GAD-2 dissolved in 20 mM pl 5 dbmic phosphate buffer (PB), an well as in the presence of 20 % TEE, 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC Bisconey, and 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC lipsonmes **72** 

Figure 15. 1D solution NMR <sup>1</sup>H spectrum of GAD-1 74

Figure 16. 1D solution NMR <sup>1</sup>H spectrum of GAD-2 75

Figure 17. Solution NMR 2D TOCSY spectrum of GAD-1 76

Figure 18. Solution NMR 2D TOCSY spectrum of GAD-2 77

Figure 19, Solution NMR 2D NOESY spectrum of GAD-1

## Figure 20. Solution NMR 2D NOESY spectrum of GAD-2

Figure 21. Graphical representation of the portion of a 96-well plate used for the

MIC assay (Section 2.12)

82

### List of Supplemental Material

Supplemental Figure SL Brain nodavirus RT-PCR results for fish used in the QPCR studies to determine if high nodavirus carrier state significantly influenced brain, spleen, or head kidney GAD-1 or GAD-2 transcript expression.

Supplemental Table S1, Identification of transcripts representing GAD-1 (A) and GAD-2 (B), which were obtained from the Atlantic Cod Genomics and Broodstock Development Project (CGP) Expressed Sequence Tag (EST) database.

Supplemental Table S2. Mean pixel intensities of nodavirus RT-PCR products from individual Atlantic cod brain samples involved in this study.

Supplemental Table S3. QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for the constitutive expression study of GAD-1 (A) and GAD-2 (B), normalized to 18S ribosomal RNA.

Supplemental Table S4. QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for GAD-1 (A) and GAD-2 (B) and analysis of impact of nodavirus carrier state on expression of these transcripts in the brain, normalized to 18S rebosemal RNA

Supplemental Table S5. QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for the study determining effect of nodavirus carrier state on expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcripts in non-stressed (0 h) immune tissues, normalized to 18S ribosomal RNA

Supplemental Table S6, QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for the immune tissue (head kidney and splees) study indicating GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression at four time points after intraperitoreal lipetion of phosphate-buffered value (PIRS) or formaline killed, atypical A, audomoticalia (ASAL), normalized to 185 rhowmal RNA.

# List of Abbreviations

0 h	individual Atlantic cod that were euthanized and sampled prior to
	injection
1D	one-dimensional
2D	two-dimensional
3D	three-dimensional
ACNNV	Atlantic cod nervous necrosis virus
AMP	antimicrobial peptide
ASAL	formalin-killed atypical Aeromonas salmonicidia
BLAST	basic local alignment search tool
BSA	bovine serum albamin
CD	circular dichroism
cDNA	complimentary DNA
CGP	Atlantic cod genomics and broodstock development project
contig	contiguous sequence
DMF	dimethylformamide
DMPC	dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine

DMPG	dimyristoylphosphatidylglycerol
DPPC	dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine
DSS	4,4-dimethyl-4-silapentane-1-sulfonic acid
EST	expressed sequence tag
Fmoc	O-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl
GAD	gaduscidin
G01	gene of interest
GNNV	grouper nervous necrosis virus
hBD	human B-defensin
HNP	human neutrophil peptide
HoBt	1-hydroxy-benzotriazole
HPI	hours post-injection
HPLC	high-pressure liquid chromatography
IL.	interleukin
IFN	interferon
IP	intraperitoncal
JNK	c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase

LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MHB	Mueller-Hinton broth
MIC	minimal inhibitory concentration
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NOESY	nuclear Overhauser effect spectroscopy
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PE	phosphatidylethanolamine
PG	phosphatidylglycerol
POPC	1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-ssi-glycero-3-phosphocholine
POPG	1-palmitoy1-2-oleoy1-sn-glycero-3-phospho-(1'-rac- gly
QPCR	quantitative reverse transcription - polymerase chain re
RACE	rapid amplification of cDNA ends
RBC	red blood cell
RQ	relative quantity
rRNA	ribosomal RNA
RT-PCR	reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction

SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SSH	suppression subtractive hybridization
TFE	2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol
TOCSY	total correlation spectroscopy
TMS	tricaine methanesulphonate

## 1. Introduction

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are often small (12-50 residue), cationic peptides that represent an important component of innate immunity in many organisms. AMPs can exhibit antimicrobial activity against bacteria, viruses, motozoa, as well as funei (Zasloff et al., 2002), and some have also been shown to exhibit anti-tumor activity (Rese et al., 2007). Importantly, many AMPs can kill microbial and tumor cells at concentrations that have little effect on mammalian cells (Rege et al., 2007, Hoskin and Ramamoorthy 2008). In many cases, AMPs discurt the membranes of target cells, causing leakage of cell contents. However, interactions with intracellular tareets are also believed to be an important component of activity for some AMPs (Nicolas, 2009). In addition, the immunomodulatory properties of AMPs represent another important component of their activity in humans and other mammals (Mookherjee et al., 2007). For example, mammalian AMPs have been shown to influence chemotaxis, cytokine release, antiren presentation, receptor interaction, angiopenesis, and wound healing (Lai and Gallo, 2009). The potential of AMPs to act on pathogenic and tumor cells without harming normal host cells makes them attractive candidates for nevel therapeutics.

Structurally, AMPs can be generally charaffed into three endraptice: i) problem with a distrible broaded it strand or schelic (e.g. defension), ii) schelical prepriors tasks incert exceeption, amphibin a magnition, or foh piccingui, and ii) preprior with an overrepresentation of a patienciar antion acid (Pro, Hin, Giy, Try) which may fit into either structural enzyory. I-strand perpriors used as protegrine1, which are disaphilach-board atabilitied, how well-defined structures in aqueous solution (Dahmbiliti et al., 2007).

aqueous solution, but adopt α-helical conformation in the presence of lipid membranes. Taking on this conformation allows the AMPs to interact with each other, and with the lipids, disrupting the bilayer.

There are generally four proposed mechanisms for membrane disruption: i.) the barrel-stave mechanism (Figure 1A: Baumann et al., 1974), ii.) the carpet mechanism (Figure 1B: Pouny et al., 1992), iii.) the toroidal pore mechanism (Figure 1C: Ludtke et al., 1996) and iv.) the disordered toroidal pore mechanism (Figure 1D; Leontiadou et al., 2006). In order for AMPs to disrupt membranes by any of these mechanisms, a threshold concentration of AMPs at the bilaver surface is required (Melo et al., 2009). Baumann et al (1974) first introduced the barrel-stave model as a probable mechanism for ion channel formation by alamethicin from the fungi Trichoderma viride. This mechanism involves the hydrophobic portion of the α-helix interacting with the lumen of the bilayer (Palffy et al., 2009). Barrel-stave pore formation (Figure 1A) requires that the AMP spans the entire length of the membrane and, thus, AMPs that function by this mechanism are typically as helical neutides of 70 residues or more ( Rozek et al., 2000). There are many examples of AMPs that fit this size criterion, and are believed to disrupt membranes in a similar manner to the barrel-stave mechanism. Examples include the 31-residue mammalian cecropin p1 (Gazit et al., 1996), the 20-residue fungi AMP alamethicin (Tieleman et al., 1999) and the 15-residue oramicidin from Bacillus brevis (Arsenies et al., 1985).



Figure 1. Four methanism by which AMPs may index per formation in a light numbrase once threshold concentration is mached. Depiction of a) hard-stree mechanism (Basmas et a) (1994) source methanism. (Poury et al. (2002; c)) straided pere mechanism (Laddes et al., 1994) and ab disordered tweided pere mechanism (Loseniados et al., 2006). Reprinted by permission from Mannifus Publisher Lish Danar Review Monology (Mide et al., 2009) couplid (2009). Some AMPs such as the surres AMPs from freq (Useque there), with 1.571 since and strokes in engings, are are long encodes to conferen to the barrel-source mechanism (Binok et al., 2000). Many of flower shorter perforts are thought to dimpt membranes with the carpet mechanism. This mechanism (Figure 110) is docubed between the AMP forming 4 – our of the outer short the structure of the index perception of the structure of the mechanism transfer, which are Rise are determined in altern perception of the attraction of the structure from the hityper (PuBF) of al. 2009). AMPs that dimpt membranes by fish mechanism include the 2-streads between worm AMP mething dimpt et al. (1994). Treadslip years formation (Figure 12) is similar to the hundre stree mechanism, but in the case of the former, for 4APF in dways sociatist with the high-dappene. This association induces a contention between time and oner membrane luelities: rhDpt et al., 2000).

These mechanisms for methrem disruption have box density from a vertegy of theyby-circl advice, by resident marker mapping resonance (MML). The currently, using salid-state MMR, Tang et al (2009) datamined that the cationic bear-haringst AMP FGindoced trendshift perc-blac changes in an animic dilamos/pheprophetical/behline (UUC)methomene missific, datadio, the dy-and that using plan number of cationic residents changes the elevations of the AMP in the membrane missific, and well as the level of inortion (Tang et al., 2009). Leminative et al (2004) introduced the disonderal perchangement of the AMP in the membrane mission, and a disonderal perdemaining (Tang et al., 2009). Leminative et al (2004) introduced the disonderal perdemaining (Tang et al., 2009). Leminative et al (2004) introduced the disonderal perdemaining (Tang et al., 2006). They be yangainin MMLQ, an antilogen displansibility/hosting (HPTC) fully by yangainin MMLQ, an antilogen million of the meaning. These results differes from the transitional studies over embranes in first from the transitional studies over antibility.

that only one peptide is found at the centre of the pore while all others peptides are found on the edge of the pore, parallel to the bilayer surface.

In addition to the four generally accepted mechanism discussed above, it has also been regarded for the segregation of components of the bacterial meshanes into discussion. Domain formation streamers generalizing, and, for, is a possible mechanism of discuption of the bacterial methodase, Epad *et al.* (2009) disconstrated domain formation in a (2521). E-palmity-E-2-dense) glosophilipide/discussioning (POPE) and tetratelogy confiding (POC), model methodase possibility of CELS-2-8-8, a lighty cationic AMP using differential scanning, catarings--

Which the mechanism of membrane disruption is an inspirate consideration, is is only one persentee in understanding the complex some of AMP-induced off dash. Another impetiat angel of AMP-fraction is their specificity for phalogen membranes in comparison to hast cell mandmares. This is therapit to derive persently from the difference in legal companion and, thus physics-behaviori distance the test membrane are commonly composed of the phalophility candiding (EQ), hepsthelidy(physics). The strength of the strength of the phalophility hepsthelidy(physics) and the phalophility candiding (EQ), with a periody(pens). However, Grame signific explosit, and the appendix difference in the strength of the phalophility of the strength is with a periody(pens). However, Grame signific explosit, and the appendix difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the factor marking association of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the strength of the difference in the strength of the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference is the strength of the strength of the strength of the difference in the difference in the difference in the strength of the difference in the difference

between Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial species. In general, studies of AMP-membrane interactions are limited to phosphoshydal membrane mimetics. While such studies with simplified lipid systems have been valueble in suggesting models for the mechanisms of AMP membrane disruption and specificity, the interactions can be expected to be much more complex in vino.

Interactions between AMP and membranes are important in the study of AMPs. as they often induce cell death by membrane disruption. However, interactions with microbial intracellular targets are also believed to be an important component of activity for some AMPs. For example, AMPs have been shown to inhibit DNA and protein synthesis, cell wall and cytoplasmic membrane synthesis, chaperone-assisted protein folding, enzyme activity (Nicolas, 2009), as well as energy dissipation through mitochondrial interaction (Westerhoff et al., 1989). AMPs such as the insect pyrthocoricin and drosocin are believed to enter microbial cells through a recentor interaction, and once inside, interfere with either the chaperone DnaK, or inhibit DNA or protein synthesis (Kragol et al., 2002; Otvos et al., 2005). Human histatin-5, a histidinerich AMP, is transported across the membrane in the protozoa Leishmania in a nonperturbing manner, where it causes energetic failure of the cell by accumulating in the mitochondrion, and inhibiting ATP synthesis (Luque-Ortega et al., 2008). Cell death by AMP-induced energetic collapse has also been reported in Candida albicans (Helmerhorst et al., 1999). Patrzykat et al (2007) determined that P.der, a hybrid between winter flounder (Pseudonleurometex americanus) pleurocidin and frog dermaseptin. inhibits intracellular functions without damaging the E. coli cytoplasmic membrane; Pder inhibited microbial RNA synthesis, but further studies are required to determine if

this is the primary target (Patrzykat et al., 2002; Dospite all of the AMPs that have been recently described (over 1,000 in the AMP Database, http://aps.sumc.edu/AP/main.php), relatively few AMPs have been conclusively proven to enter microbial cells and affect processes within.

Membrane disruption, and interactions with intracellular targets are two important means of AMP-induced microbial death. In addition, many AMPs aid host microbial clearance with immunomodulatory respectives and thus, influence immune cell migration and proliferation, as well as the expression of immune mediators (Faston et al., 2009). For example, the human cathelicidin hCAP181L-37 induces chemokine production, and acts as a chemoattractant for mast cells (Nivonsaba et al., 2001), dendritic cells (Davidson et al., 2004), neutrophils (Zheng et al., 2007), and monocytes (Mookherjee et al., 2006). LL-37 also induces mast cell de-granulation (Niyonsaba et al., 2001), and can effectively inhibit apoptosis of neutrophils in vitro (Barlow et al., 2006). Similarly, the adefensing human neutrophil nentides (HNP) 1 and 2 are chemotactic for monocates (Territo et al., 1989), and the human B-defensions (hBD) 3 and 4 are chemotactic for monocytes and macrophases (Yang et al., 2002). In addition, human or and 6 defensions are chemotactic for memory T cells (Lai and Gallo, 2009), representing a link between the innote and adaptive immune systems. Defensins and cathelicidins, which are produced by epithelial cells and keratinocytes, provide a vital innate immune role against microbial invasion at these sites (Yang et al., 2001). For example, Van Wetering et al (1997) determined that HNP stimulates interleukin (IL3-8 production in human airway epithelia; IL-8, in turn, is a neutrophil chemoattractant, further enhancing the immune response.

In order to properly understand the immunerabilities propertise that AMPs postors, signaling pathways that control immune regulation must first be understood. Mologic three have been for statistic of signaling pathways regulation of AMPs in tafs, much is known aboxe regulations of signaling gathways by human and intext AMPs. Regulation of expression of human AMPs is modified by pathagen susceidand bioleants (add), 2009). The human fielders in molitated by pathagen susceidand biological Gathy, 2009). The human fielders in MDD-4 are indexed by stimulation of TLR ligands, IL-JR, interfacent (MDM) and interactions factors (blotted et al., 2008), abbre interfacilitation in regulation bioleance description (blotted et al., 2008), abbre receptor (Wang et al., 2004). The signaling pathways regulating expression of AMPs in humans are further complicated by their major integration with the alaptive immune system.

Basech, however, Jack an adaptive immune system, and, that, with burshly method method immunity. The expression is invisingly produced AMPs and release them into sixedarian (Aggarend et al., 2006). The release of an array of AMPs is induced by machine faster script-chained-nearone of anizonal D wells. (DN-H)Ms and activates of emanciphin (JAK-STATA, Jo-BNI/S1)-seminal kinase (JNK), and immune deficiency (DMR) publicity. Shorts it known about the publicity are method means response in Deraudelic, knowne, that scripts. These regulating the immune for the production of the strength of the publicity arguing the intering of the strength of the strengt response in Dorseling Monopolities in a strength of the production of the strengt response in Dorseling Monopolities in Strengtneares, as the ar a relation of the immune response in Dorseling Monopolities in Dorseling Monopolities in Dorseling Monopolities (DN-STATA), and the strength of the publicity are strength on the strength of the publicity of the DN-STATA (DN-STATA) and the strength of the publicity and the strength of the publicity of the strengt response in Dorseling Monopolities (DN-STATA), and the strength of the publicity of the DN-STATA (DN-STATA) and The DN-STATA (DN-STATA) and The DN-STATA (DN-STATA). moduling the JNR pathony, which require resistance to bicturial infections. Even though AMP analors in this have than for largely not included analysis of signaline biology, it has been suggeded that Addings on calculations may be associated with the TLR-9 signaling encode (Ferg et al., 2009). Similarly, Ferg et al (2009) determined that bacterial atimatizeton isolocol, along with transcripts neoreding the patient AMPs calculations theored, along with transcripts used may (LLR, and IPS regulatory thate-IC (BFT). It is possible that this AMPs may share similarity in regulation with human and insect examples. In addition, fish AMPs may play are including the isolated and adaptive immune system, a hypothesis that requires finder investigations.

Mining or naturally security AMP sequences for word motifs of potuntial use in human medicine si agronnic and protennic approaches provides access to the hardword of millions of years of molecular evolution has contributed to the calculage of AMPs used by extraor expansions. Peptide therepeations have do na natural AMP supervex have the potential to reflece the reflector of modern molecules on material AMP supervex have the proteind and protein the supervex sequences of the temperature thereafters, an important concerns given the interacting models on a family and thereafters and important and the supervex sequences of the temperature the last of structurally novel ambientics in recent decades (Spellforg et al., 2004) combined with the energizers of "superlying" and an ambientificencies and the subsequences areas, the recentlus Lag part table formed thereafters:

Marine organisms represent a potentially fruitful resource for novel antimicrobial discovery as these organisms rely heavily on their innate immune systems to combat the constant threat of infection in the marine environment (Patraylat and Douglas 2003). Field ADPs have been preciously above to calabit immovial killing potency 12-100 Itims that of amphahan AMPs against namewas padagang VGAs et al. (2003) Mahimitation of phasesido maria (a 25-mida, o Camaindy anidand AMP) into the profitted cavity of about Mahan (Douolynekuk Janaki) ang a minismice pargsignificantly roboted meeting from 67-25% in the control (to AMP administration) group to 3%. following immediated (26) shoft and 67 leibos angulate pathogane based on the about the about pathogane based on the loss against phalogane based on the about pathogane based on the stransform pathogane based on the control of the about pathogane based on the phalogane based on the control of the about pathogane based on the phalogane based on the control of the about pathogane based on the phalogane based on the control of the about pathogane based on the phalogane based on the control of the about pathogane based on the control of the start pathogane based on the control of the con

Over L(20) has melocular weight, catimits AMP, have how identified from various organisms (The AMP Database, Hyp-lips,ame,acht/Shranishy) including films. The pisodian area family of AMPs common in sums fich species. These perpletes for an obdical structure, how melocular weight, based-spectrum antimismichal activity, and contonic durger aprices of the structure of the anti-perpetition of an obdical structure, how melocular weight, based-spectrum antimismichal activity, and contonic durger aprices of the antipical structure of the antipical structure (AMP) such as planeedin memoricalin, deryanphia, dicentration, princeidan, and mysindin (Cole et al., 1997; Lando et al., 2009; Lipsu et al., 2000; Amere et al., 2007; Dan et al., 2007; Shramet and A., 2009; Shramet et al., 2007; Shram

Many studies of AMP expression patterns, including this root, makes not of mRVAs analysis. AMP-cooling genes in fish are expressed at the mRXA level in a breast energy of the mRXA level in a breast energy of the mRXA level in a breast energy of and as well as in intertinal epithelia (Cole et al., 1997; Dougles et al., 2000), Merenceidin gene expression in hybrid attiped base (a bybed generated from *Morease smallin* and *Moreas derivant*) was detected by an antibiary events that the theory of the theory of the Moreas derivant was an electronic transmission.

reaction (OPCI) in pill, skin, intention, splene, hank kikhoy, and Mood (Land et al., 2002), Another full AMP direct from garagest (*fjangshada* moinday) spinsckin 1, had 2002), Another full AMP direct from garagest (*fjangshada* moinday) spinsckin 1, had 2002). Mandare find, (kingstream of shared hyperbolic field and the state of the shared state of the shared state of the state

Bacterial challings is a usefut means of messing expension pattern of AMN-1 is is known that some fish AMP temocripts are inducible by attenuited bacteria or FAMN-1 in [a phopohynachited] (25%) (dudings, which ethen do not respond applicably to bacterial attenues. Using QPCR, Forge et al. (2009) showed that both catheticidan and hopidan transcripts were significantly up-regulated by formalishilid attypids transmary absonicity (EASI) is addinct or only them and back distribution. Sing et al. (2007) showed that memoricalite transcripts from Chaines peech were upregulated by 15 m brain, gill, kidney, and kidney, sin, interation, and polen. However, experimine in hybrid striped huss indicated that the hacterial challings of a strends that more progradient (prater: them four-field higher as compared in machinging and promotedine in theory distribution; metricity, theory cathol, (Land et al., 2000).

With this project, I set out to identify and characterize novel AMPs from the Atlantic cod transcriptome for use in future human medicine. The identification process used bioinformatic techniques including hidden-Markoy model-based software to identify AMP-like motifs from translated expressed sequence tag (EST) sequences obtained from the Atlantic Cod Genomics and Broodstock Development Project (CGP, http://codgene.ca) database. Once antimicrobial motifs were found, the putative AMPcoding transcripts were sequenced, and the correct open reading frame (ORF) was deduced to determine the nutative mature AMP sequence. Also, constitutive expression of these AMP-coding transcripts was assessed in a number of tissues (head kidney, blood, brain, gill, pyloric caecum, and spleen), as well as in head kidney and spleen upon bacterial antigen challenge. In addition, impact of nodavirus carrier state on gaduscidin transcript expression in head kidney and spleen was assessed. Next, the putative mature AMPs were chemically synthesized, assessed structurally using CD and NMR, and subjected to functional antimicrobial assays against a Gram-positive and Gram-negative species. Finally, hemolytic assays were performed to determine any hemolytic effects against enknyotic crythrocytes.

### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. QPCR sample preparation: tissue collection and bacterial antigen preparation and stimulation

OPCR sample preparation started with collecting tissues from juvenile Atlantic cod that had been stimulated with a saline injection control or bacterial antioens. The fish used in this study were from a single family (Family 32, CGP 2006 year class). The cod (~25 g each) were reared in 500-litre tanks maintained with flowing seawater (10°C, 90% O2 saturation) and kept on a 12 h light 12 h dark photoperiod. Fish were fed daily at 1.5 % body mass/day for 17 days and kept in separate tanks for two groups: 1) a control group that was given an intraperitoneal (IP) injection with 100 ul of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and 2) an experimental group that was IP injected with 100 µl of formalinkilled atypical Aeromonas salmonicidia (ASAL tank). Immediately prior to stimulation, fish were injected with a lethal dose of 0.4 e/l of tricaine methanesulphorate (TMS) (Syndel Laboratiries Vancouver, BC, Canada). Tissues used in the study were excised, flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C until RNA extraction. For the ASAL and PRS arouns the hematopoietic kidney (anterior or head kidney) and spleen tissues (Figure 2) were collected from eight individuals prior to injection (0 h), and at 2, 6, 24, and 72 h post-injection (HPI) (Feng et al., 2009). Constitutive GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression was also examined in blood, brain, gill, head kidney, pyloric caecum and spleen (Figure 2) of 6 non-stressed (0 h) cod. All tissue samples were flashfrozen in liquid nitrogen, and RNA samples were DNase I-treated and column-purified as previously described (Feng et al., 2009; Rise et al., 2008). It should be noted that Rise lab





members carried out the cod rearing, stimulation, and sampling work price to my arrival in the lab; however, as part of my honours research, I did RNA extractions from numerous tissues used in this study.

### 2.2. Identification of transcripts encoding Atlantic cod putative AMPs

The COI EST database was for probab for sequences containing AMP multisuing AMPs, is bladdes Markow model based software (F)df et al., 2007). In addition, the 25T database was asseeded for sequences with minimabul monotion in a documented by Amark ACT (Data) et al., 2003). A company sequence (conting all y 2A,10408. (C1) with antimicrabid amentation was fromd, and hypothetical transmission yarobsel for AMP-base month, abox using AMPsr: Harming June results that the contig contained for ISTN (Gentheat accession numbers FG131961, L19972041, L19972043, and ESY972025) (Table 1, Supplemental Table 51), and encode at protein AMP. Tabael MarkAST alignment for the contig all y 23.10408. (C1) sequence against the CGP EST database Boreman et al. 2010 (in press), 1 identified a contig containing two ESTS (all, 26.2.0022, E), accession numbers F12171601 (C104 L), hypothemistil Table 515 rupersenting account, cluided on AMP and transmission.

### 2.3. Determination of full-length cDNA sequences for Atlantic cod GAD-1 and GAD-2

The full-length cDNA sequences of GAD-1 and GAD-2 were obtained using RNA ligase-mediated (RLM) rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE). Full-length

Gene	Library type <sup>1</sup>	CGP library identifier <sup>2</sup>	Timur	Treatment <sup>2</sup>	No. of clones
GAD-1	SSH forward	pusikfas	head kidney	ASAL.	1
	SSH reverse	guaderas	head kidney	ASAL.	2
	Normalized	pubpis	10	1000	1
GAD-2	SSII ferward	public	spheres	ptC	4
	Normalized	graddian	head kidney	ASAL	1
	Normalized	paullpia	blood	ASAL& pIC	- i
	SSH forward	produte	head kidney	heat shock	

Table 1. Identification of gadascidin transcripts in the CGP database.

<sup>6</sup>The forward SMI libraries were constructed to be enriched for transcripts appropriated by the transmetting (ASAL, jpc, or thermal stress). Revenue SSII libraries were constructed to be enriched for transcripts doors regulated by the streament (ASAL, jpc, or droard around). Nonanizhol (ASAL binaries were constructed to strendare the abundance of transcripts in order to maximize provides the transcripts.) 2019.

<sup>3</sup>The identifiers (i.e. names) of the SSH libraries in the CGP EST database (http://scdgene.ca) are provided Bournan et al. (in press).

<sup>3</sup>The ASAL (bacterial antigen), pIC (viral minic), and the heat stress stimulation procedures were described nervisingly (Fena et al. 2009; Rise et al. 2008; and Hori et al. 2010).

<sup>4</sup>The number of closes does not necessarily equate to the number of ESTs (lotted in Table S1), as some closes were sequenced more than ener. A complete listing of all ESTs with accession matthew can be found in Supercentary Table S1.
RACE-ready cDNA was synthesized using the GeneRacer Kit (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) Briefly 250 no of soleen poly(A)<sup>+</sup> RNA (mRNA) was isolated from a pool of total RNA from 20 ASAL stimulated invenile cod as previously described (Fene et al. 2009). Based on assembled FSTs (see section 2.2), sene-specific primers (Table 2) for GAD-1 and GAD-2 were designed using the Primer3 program (Rozen and Skaletsky, 2000, http://frodo.wi.mit.edu). RACE used a touch-down PCR followed by a nested PCR as specified in the GeneRacer Kit manual, with an extension time of 3 min for all cycles. For both 5' and 3' RACE, PCR using 1 µl of RACE cDNA (250 ng of input RNA) as template was followed by nested PCR. For both PCR reactions, the GeneRacer 5' and 3' Table 2). Cycline parameters for 5' and 3' RACE consisted of an initial denaturation neriod of 2 min at 94°C, followed by 25 cycles of (94°C for 30 sec, 70°C for 30 sec, 72°C for 3 min), and 1 cycle at 68°C for 10 min. For 5' and 3' nested RACE, cycling narameters consisted of 2 min at 94°C. followed by 25 cycles of (94°C for 30 sec. 65°C for 30 sec. 68°C for 2 min), and 1 cycle at 68°C for 10 min. GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequences were amplified using the Advantage 2 Polymerase Kit (Clontech, Mountain View, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. PCR products were extracted from a 1% agarose rel (made with 1X TAE buffer, and stained with ethidium bromide) using the OIAOuick Gel Extraction Kit (OIAGEN, Mississauga, ON) following the manufacturer's instructions. Upon washing, ethanol precipitation, and resuspension in nuclease-free water (Invitrogen), gel-extracted PCR products were cloned into the pCR2.1-TOPO vector (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions. Recombinant vectors were transformed into TOP10 chemically competent E. coli cells

Primer name <sup>1</sup>	Oligonacleotide sequence (5°-3°)	Application
Nodavirus AC2F1	GIGGITACGIGGCICGCTIC	Nodavirus diagnostic
Nodavirus AC2R4	GTICIGCTITCCCACCATTIG	RTPCR
GADI-F	AGTOCTOCACCAACAGCATC	QPCR (87%, 101 bp)
GAD1-r	TGAAACATGCGAACTGCAAG	
GAD2-f	TCAAAAGGTTCCAGTTTCCAG	QPCR (87%, 151 bp)
GAD2-r	GTGGATCAAACCCACGATGT	
185-6	AIGGCCGTICTIAGTIGGTG	QPCR Normalizer
185-r	GGACATTTAAGGOCGTCTCA	(95%, 180 bp)
GADI-fl	CUTOCIGCTICTOGCCATGATOGTT	3 RACE
GAD1-e1	CAGCTITITICTCCATGGATGGCACGAT	5'RACE
GAD1-12	TECATEACATEATEGGGTGGATEAGE	3" Nested RACE
GAD1-c2	AIGGCCCTCACACATGGCTGATCC	5" Netted RACE
GAD2-ft	GIGCIGCTICIGGCCAIGAIGGTICIG	3'RACE
GAD2-r1	CICIGITCGAGIGITCGCCGCTGCTGT	5'RACE
GAD2-62	AGCTGGAGGCTTTTTGCACCACATCGT	3" Nested RACE
GAD2-r2	TGCACGGTCACCGAAGAGAGACAAACC	5" Nested RACE
GeneRacer 3' Primer	GCTGTCAACGATACGCTACGTAACG	<b>J'RACE</b>
GeneRacer 5' Primer	CGACTGGAGCACGAGGACACTGA	5'RACE
GeneRacer 3' Nested Primer	CGCTACGTAACGGCATGACAGTG	3' Nested RACE
GeneRacer 5" Nested Primer	GGACACTGACATGGACTGAAGGAGTA	5" Nested RACE

Table 2. Primers used for OPCR gene expression analysis and bi-directional RACE in this study.

<sup>11</sup> or T reters to torward or reverse perior orientation and is precedue by the prior name.
<sup>1</sup> Amplification efficiency calculations for QPCR primers can be found in the Materials and reethods

## GAD-1

1	ATCTCTACCTGTCGAAAGGTT	21
22	CCAGTTTACAGCTTCAAATCAGAGCTCAAATCGGTATCTGAAAGG	66
67	ATGAGGTATATTGTTCTACTTGTTGTCGTGCTGCTTCTGGCCATG	
	MRYIVLLV,VVLLLAM	
112	ATGGTTCAGCCAGCAGACTGCTTTATCCATCACATCATCGGGTGG	156
	MYQPADCFIHHIIGW	
157	ATCAGCCATGGTGTGAGGGCCATCCATCGTGCCATCCATGGAGAA	201
	ISHGVRAIHRAIHGE	
202	AAAGCTGAGGAATATATTATGGTGGATTAGTCCTCCACCAACAGC	246
	KAEEYIMVD.	
247	ATCGGCAAACACTCGAACAGAGCCGTTGTTGCACATGCCGAACAA	291
292	GAAGAACAAGCATGCTAACCTTGCAGTTCGCATGTTTCAAGTTTT	336
337	AATGTAAATGGCATGTTGGTGATAAAAAATAGGCATTATAAACA	381
382	TAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	405

# GAD-2

1									ATC	TCT	ACC	AGT	CAA	AAG	GTT	21
22	CCA			AGO	770	.777	TCA	GAA	CTC		TCA	GT7	TCT	GAA	AGG	66
67	ATG	AGG	TGT	ATT	777	CTA	CTT	TTI							ATG	111
	М	R	C	J.	F	L	L	F	V	V	L	L	L	A	М	
112	ATG	GTT	CTG	CC7		GAJ			TTG	CAC	CAC				TTG	156
	Μ	v	L	P	Λ	Е	G	F	L	Н	н	Ι	V	G	L	
	ATC		CAT	GGT									GAO	AAA	GCT	201
	I	Н	H	G	L	S	L	F	G	D	R	Λ	D	K	A	
202	GAG	GAF	TAT	ATT	GCG	GTC	GAC	TAG	FICC	TCC	AGC				GGC	246
	Е	E	Y	I	Λ	v	D				_					
247	AAA	CAC		AAC	AGA	GCI			GCA	CAT	GCC	GAA	CAA	GAA	GAA	291
292	CAA	/GC7				TGC	AGT	TAG	CAT	GTT	ACA	AC1	TTA	TTG	TAA	336
337	CAT	CTC	CCA	TGT	TGG	TGA	TAA	ATA	LAAT	CGG	CAT	TAT	AAA	TGI	AAA	381
382	AAA	111	AAA	AAJ	777	AAA	AA									401

Figure 3: The fifth-steph GNA sequences with particle transitions for GAD-1 (A), and GAD-2 (B). Goos specific primers that were used for chains (new Table 2 and Steint) and a distribution of the stephene stephene stephene stephene stephene stephene primer; arrows below the supported; The translation is shown below the pathrise open reading fismer (ORT), whith the step soften stephene stephene stephene physical stephene stephene stephene stephene stephene stephene physical stephene ste (Intrinspin), and cells were prove for 16 hours at 37-50 ext Ellispertungillin (6 pagihl) plates containing hennes chlero-indely djatostprasmake (1.6 magihlas) for blavelin ologo wlatetistis. Indelvialar a doninei were collared at 37-50 fm 7 fm boars in Elkisterhenillin (50 pagihl). Plannel DAA samples were prepared and holdred in the 66welf format using attackat methods. Prior is separation, recombinant planni interest were detormined by *Ecold* (Drivbrugs) algostion and visual assessment of the resolution flagments on a 19s aganese get raw with the 15k Plan ladder (Incitinges). In orders to just attack field accorage for the (ADA) and (ADA 2 suspects (E. 8) course) and the just and a field accorage for the (ADA) and (ADA 2 suspects (E. 8) course) which align quite a summa supervises, alt and 3 mindral dones were sequenced mixes in both directions using the ADI 3720 DNA Analyzer with BigDye Teminator chomistry (Appleal Bigments). Faster ADA and ADA 2 supervises are performed at the Coursins and Promousin Fastility (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Courseins and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Courseins and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Courseins and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are performed at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35), CAA Supervises are perfored at the Coursein and Promousing Tabley (CPC 35),

## 2.4. Effect of nodurirus carrier state on GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression

Notedwise RT-PCE toting was constanted by Churke Y. Freq (Outon Sciences energy, Mouried Workswig) on a set of entresses (4) pseugiosched individual that had previously hean shows to include some symptomatic noderston arreirer (Eine et al. 2006; Forg et al. 2009; Rite et al. 2010). For each individual invested in the strate-JI same of ObAscie Housed, composition Hwini Mark Assa was revert measured, large Molang marine leakania visus (MAM V) reverses humoripate and random humaness (furningung) at JPC for 500 min in a fluid reaction volume of 29 pai aris (Rice et al. 2000; The westillar (2014) was childred with moleculess of the strategies of the strategies of the strategies of the strategies of the strategies.

volume of 200 µl. The PCR amplification was performed using DyNAzyme EXT DNA polymerase (MJ Research, Waltham, MA). Each PCR reaction contained 1 U of DyNAzyme EXT DNA polymerase, 1X manufacturer's optimized DyNAzyme EXT Buffer, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 4 µl of diluted cDNA (20 ng of input total RNA), and 0.2 µM each of nodavirus specific primers AC2F1 and AC2R4 (Table 2). PCR cycling conditions consisted of 40 cycles of (94°C for 30 sec, 61°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 10 sec). For each 50 ul PCR reaction. 5.5 ul of 10X Blue Juice (Invitrogen) was added and 15 ul of this mixture was electrophoretically separated on a 1.5 % arange gel (stained with ethidium bromide and visualized under UV light) using a 100 be ladder (Invitrogen) as a size marker. The area used for pixel intensity quantification was constant in each gel lane. Based on agarose gel images and pixel intensity data, individuals with no apparent visible nodavirus RT-PCR band (mean pixel intensity in the range 662 to 5887) were assigned to the "no/low" nodavirus carrier state and individuals with visible nodavirus RT-PCR bands (mean pixel intensity in the range 10.973 to 33,733) were assigned to the "high" nodavirus carrier state (Supplemental Figure S1 and Supplemental Table S2).

#### 2.5. GAD-1 and GAD-2 putative open reading frame (ORF) sequence analysis

Based on the full-high-tRNA supervises of GAD-1 and GAD-2, their respective open reading finance (GRPs) were dollowed using ILAST's digeneous and the Supervere Hilder function of the Langenez T-20 where package (DNATAL, Madlaw, WI). The MegAlign Chanliff function (Langenez T-20) was used to construct an animo acid supporce alignment of transland GAD-1, GAD-2 and their best Universal Pretein Network (University Magneeurgingenez) (MAST the (i), E:-brief Pretein Network (University Magneeurgingenez) (MAST the ii), E:-brief Pretein

throhold was used because these two pratrice cod AMNs and ether fifth AMP-like sequences are relatively short (i.e. less than 90 amino acid residues), and poorly concerned. An unrestal pilopanetics tree was generated from this acid sequences using the MEGA 4 software (Tamara et al., 2007) and a ChatalX (Version 2.09) sequence alignment. The two, constructed using the neighbor-joining method, was boostnergeed 1000m times.

## 2.6. Quantitative reverse transcription - polymerase chain reaction (QPCR)

ENAs cutatistica and partification wave carried out as in Farq et al. (2009). OPCL was used to study: 1) constituted GAD-1 and GAD- affASA expension, 27, GAD-1 and GAD-2 mancing requestor response in simulation, and 3) the postful impact of high mediation carrier state (assessed by brain RT-PCR, while mediationgenetics of GAD-1 and GAD-2 mancing wave download in its fitting the expension of GAD-1 and GAD-2 mancing wave download in its fitting the constitutive requestor in GAD-1 and GAD-2 mancing wave download in its fitting the distribublical, king dig, printic exema, and picture with 6 non-stream (d) by pre-injected study, the transmit expression (FGAD-1 and GAD-2 van and/pict) in Ind kikeny and spectra if for time-point (c), 6, 34, and 72 ho filtering IP isoleties with CALA. (ar polynethy intellectual due (PER): for cost time-point, seven biological replaces are used for each ASAL, and PIS injecting graps, Pre-injected (b) cound grapse (cr<sup>2</sup>) wave also included for each with GAD. ASAL task and PIS with, I be dired OPCR and, the constraint resultive resultive resultive of GAD-1 and GAD-2 was minimum of the GAD-AL, and PIS injecting graps, Pre-injected (b) cound grapse (cr<sup>2</sup>) wave also included for each with GAD. ASAL task and PIS with, I be dired OPCR and, the constraint resultive resultive resultive of GAD-1 and GAD-2 with their fitted OPCR and, the constraint resultive resultive resultive result or or or GAD-1 and GAD-2 with their fitted OPCR and, the constraint resultive resultinte wa andyork in mdvishala with high nedavisos contre tate (+9) and individual with no low nedavisos cartier nate (x+3). In addition, the effect of nedavisors cartier nate or the intenstreip expression of COLD and COLD 2 in the Making and pipenes was also andyord by comparison of the constitutive transcript expression (i.e. the transcript expression in pro-injusted initializabili is individual with high nedavisor corter state (x-1) and individual bis not medicine cortex rate (x-7).

Primer lar QPCR supplifications of CADA1 and CADA2 Total Q2-yaoe Apaging wing the Primed Q2-yaopht Cadawa (2014), 2014,

In an OPCR studies, the expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 was semilated to the expression of TSS rubosinal RNA, which was study expressed [threshold cycle (Cr), was within 15 cycles for an impleje) and an ungoles. (OPCR in the 5-well frames was carried out with the Applied Biosystems 7500 FAST Real Time FCR system. For each sample, 1 ga of DNA-sci transfa, solution-gatified total RNA was reverse transcribed using downey markine lockness view (DMX) process transcription and modes hexaters:

(chingpa) at 2PC for 50 min in a final random values of 20 µl as probably densibled (Etics et al. 2007). The reaching (2DA was fullered with formorous at a 2007). The reaching (2DA was fullered with molecular and the state of 20 µl. The random values for each (QPC multification was 13 µl, and contained 22 µl of dahud (2DA) (10 µµµµ end with 2DA). All Power SYBB grows mane mix (Applied Biosystam) and 50 Md eff for formal and Power SYBB grows makes mix (Applied Biosystam) and 50 Md eff for formal and functional state of the state of the state of the formation of 1 splic of 10 min at 92°, followed by 40 cycles of 60°C for 13 sec, and 90°C for 1 min) with functionation any fiftherance machine was not on every plate in each sharph. In addition, a cound amplification reaction was not on.

#### 2.7. QPCR data collection and statistical analysis

The funcessneet thresholds and baselines were attenuistical part by the 72:000 FeB Real-time PCR System software (Applied Biosystem 7500 for 4:200, Fer theolite prediction that were of the outpile (failcined by 7500 for Bachalines PCR System software Rhap), other the susceptable todewised aregivates were reasoned trending in acceptable technical displication, or the high-tode reasons were required if displaying the display technical displication, or the high-tode reasons were required if a high-tode as an indicator to control for cDNA template quelity. Samples with memorized deviating amount of the corregary (-c) all samples within the usane table accession to control for cDNA template quelity. Samples with memorized deviating amove means that software correspondential Table S3 and 840. The  $C_{\Gamma}$  values and amplification efficiencies (Table 2) for each gene of interest (GOR), and normalizer primer prime prime incorporated into the calculations of relative quantity (RQ) using the 7500 Fast Real-time PCR System robust and the delta-delta  $C_{\Gamma}$  quantification methods (Livia dea Schmington, 2001).

All RO values are presented as mean ± standard error (SE). For each OPCR study, the lowest normalized GOI, expression was set as the calibrator (i.e. RQ value of 1). For the constitutive expression study, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey post-tests was carried out on RO values to determine if there was any statistical difference in basal transcript expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 across the different tissues (head kidney, blood, brain, gill, pyloric caecum, and spleen). For the immune stimulation OPCR study, two-way ANOVAs were conducted on the RO data obtained from head kidney and spleen for GAD-1 and GAD-2 to determine the effects of injection (i.e. ASAL or PBS) and time post-injection on GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression. In addition, for both treatments, one-way ANOVAs with Tukey post-tests were conducted to determine if there were any effects of injection (PBS or ASAL) on GAD-1 and GAD-2 expression at 2, 6, 24, or 72 HPI as compared to the pre-injected (0 h) group, or if there was any difference in expression between the time-matched PBS and ASAL groups at each of the time points. To determine if high asymptomatic pedavirus carrier state had any effect on transcript expression in brain, head kidney, or spleen, two-sample t-tests were conducted on the GAD-1 and GAD-2 RQ values from individuals with either Section 2.4). For all statistical assessments, Systat 12.0 (Systat Software Inc.) was used. and data comparisons using t-tests, ANOVAs and Tukey post-tests were considered significant if  $p \le 0.05$ ,

## 2.8. Prediction of mature GAD-1 and GAD-2 peptide sequences

GAD-1 and GAD-2 full-length peptide sequences were input into the signalIP server (Nielsen et al., 1997; Bendtsen et al., 2004,

Ittp://www.abs.nuk/icviewics/Sigurf 20): periodic if other contained a sigual periodic month in addition, pattrice matter GAD-1 and GAD-2 supporters were predicted broot on sequence similarity with lowers ADPs. Ads. pattrive matter GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequences were also analyzed using a belical wheel model (University of California, Triviek Munteran Protein Explorer Version 3.2 Miclaid wheel appled to predict amplephathicity.

## 2.9. Peptide synthesis and purification

Paraterie manies GAD- (PHIBUROVISIOVABIRCADI) and GAD-2 (PLIBURGEIBIGESEFGBR) were produced by still-plane synthesis using Cflowersplanchstyscosynchrol (Pmico, demixity) or to and peoplef. Prost-amino sixis were weighed out in SX-eaces and placed into a CS Bio peptide synthesizer (model CSUSKC, CS Bio Computy Inc, Mesile Park, CA) using 643 g of 0-67 munily Biokmaint print (CS Bio Computy Inc, Mesile Park, CA) Elioshford and de-bicking of mino acide were feithering and edit 1-04-bi-bootmatice (Hold Biokova fai mino acide were feithering and edit 1-04-bi-bootmatice) (Hold Biokova fai dimetholformamide (DMF) and a 20% neneridine/DMF solution, respectively (Siema-Aldrich Co., St. Louis MO). Rosin washes were carried out with DMF. Unon completion of peptide synthesis, the resin containing synthesized GAD-1 or GAD-2 was transferred to a 10 ml syringe (BD Diagnostics Co.) equipped with a filter, and washed with methanol thoroughly under vacuum. The resin was then air dried for 30 min followed by usine a solution of 9.4 ml trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), 0.25 ml 1.2-Ethanedithiol, 0.1 ml thioanisole (Siema-Aldrich Co.), and 0.25 ml distilled water. The cleavage solution was added to the resin (3.5 ml) and stirred for 3 hours. The resulting solution, which contained the C-terminally amidated peptide, was then extruded through the syringe into a 50 ml centrifuee tube (Fisher, Toronto ON). The pentide was then precipitated with the addition of 50 ml of -20°C diethyl ether, and the tube was incubated at -80°C overnight. The precipitate was then pelleted by centrifugation at -4°C, 4,000 rpm, 5 min, the supernatant removed, and two further other precipitations were performed, each for 4 hours. The resulting pellet was air-dried overnight, and re-suspended in double distilled water with 0.1 % TFA (Sigma-Aldrich Co.).

Particulation of both periodics was carried out by Down Jackmann (Bochemistry Department, Monecial University) using high-pressure liquid chromatography (UPLC)/Valim Host St. Lancer, QC, The 10PLC was equipped with a reveneephase DYNAMAXCS preparatory enhant (Valim Ine., 8t. Lancer, QC), and periodics were chiefed at a wavedength of 215 mu using an accentrible graftest 0.029/s 10PLC grades water-testminited - 001096 accontrible. Signam-Adrin 6C on The INE one of each periodic wavedength of 215 mu using an accentrible praftest one of each periodic wavedength of 215 mu using an accentrible praftest one of each periodic wavedength of 215 mu using an accentrible praftest one of each periodic wavedength of 216 mu effects and 205 multist and each periodic wavedength of 216 mu effects and 205 multist and one of each periodic wavedength of 215 mu effects and 205 multist and one of each periodic wavedength of 215 mu effects and 205 multist and one of each periodic waved accontribution. The test periodic accontribution of the sector periodic wavedength of 215 multist and 205 multist and 205 multist and and accontribution of the sector periodic accontribution of the sector accontribution of the

Memorial University) with matrix axisted laser desception ionization – time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDF-TOF MS – Genomics and Protomics (GaP facility, Memorial University), Final parity of the peptides was determined to be 2095; by analytical HPLC: Upon mass confirmation, the C-terminally anidated GAD-1 and GAD-2 particle nature peptides were broballocid.

## 2.10. Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy

The secondary structure of GAD-1 and GAD-2 putative mature peptides was assessed in aqueous and lipid environments using circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy. For liposome preparation, lyophilized 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-an-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC) and Londwitzed, 2. alcost, on elsevero, 3. nhosnho. (15 rac. elseverol) (POPG). [Avanti Polar Linids Inc. Alabaster: All were dissolved senarately in 20 mM nH 5 dibasic phosphate buffer to a concentration of 25 mM, and subjected to five freeze-thaw cycles. The resulting liposome solutions were extruded through a 200 nm filter (Nuclepore tracketch membrane, Whatman, Toronto ON) under nitrogen gas pressure. In addition, CD was used to assess secondary structure in the presence of 25 mM sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS, Sigma-Aldrich Co.), A Jasco J-810 spectropolarimeter (Jasco Inc., Easton, MD) was used to assess secondary structure of GAD-1 and GAD-2 in buffer, as well as in the presence of 20 % TFE and POPC and POPG liposomes. Spectra were collected (20 for each analysis) in the far ultraviolet range, and were recorded using a 1 mm quartz cuvette. Spectra were collected between 193 and 260 nm. For both GAD-1 and GAD-2, four separate solutions were made: 1) 30 µM peptide in 20 mM pH 5 dibasic

phosphate buffer, 2) 30 µM peptide in 20 mM pH 5 dibasic phosphate buffer with 20 % TFE, 3) 30 µM peptide in 20 mM pH 5 dibasic phosphate buffer with addition of 1 mM POPC liposomes, and 4) 30 µM peptide in 20 mM pH 5 dibasic phosphate buffer with addition of 1 mM POPG liposomes. It should be noted that the same peptide stock solution was used for CD analysis of each peptide and, thus, CD data would be directly comparable for each of GAD-1 and GAD-2 (except for SDS, which used a different stock solution and must be taken as a strict estimate). Stock solutions were prepared using the molecular mass of the peptide, and calculating the weight required, which was weighed accurately with an analytical balance. Secondary structural characteristics of GAD-1 and GAD-2 were estimated from the collected spectra following the method of Yang et al., 1986. This method compares CD spectra values to those of a set of known reference proteins fmyoglobin, lactate dehydrogenase, lysoozyme, cytechrome c, subtilisin BPN, papain, ribonuclease A, 0-chymotrypsin, elastase, and concanavalin A) with X-ray crystallography results, most of which have been studied by five laboratories. For helical proteins, Yang et al (1986) found that the difference between the CD and X-ray crystallography data used to determined belical fractions was 1.8 %

## 2.11. Solution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)

Both putitive mature GAD-1 and GAD-2 poptides were assessed structurally uning multiar magnetic resonance (NMR). Peptide samples (2 mAt; synthesized as in section 2.9) were dissolved at pH3 5 in a solution of 90% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> 10% D<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> 0.2 mM 4,4dimethyl-4-aligneniae-lusificier acid (DSS), and 150 mM determinal SSR (Cambridge

Integra Laboration, Andorer, MAJ, Smithy work loaded into a tilter salled glass NMR hales (Merell Inc. Landorille, NJ). For all experiments, DSS was word as an internal framework of the same strategies water suppression was and with a 2-8-16 pilota. AL2D 2 experiments word a recycle dada y of 1 words. For hold GAD 1 and GAD3, and dimensional (11) pinal two-domessical (22) NOESN and TOGCN spectra were obtained using a Bolack Arasso (600 MHz expectments expected with a TXM poles, For 1D<sup>-1</sup>1 NMR, 16 seam were used. A maining time of 150 ms was used with 472 scanse for the 22D NMR/F, Fork and 27D CAVY, 10 JESU grints have sub-sub-site and the mixing time was 80 ms, with 123 sams. Spectra were processed using either NMR. High/www.mm.ret(n): "Toppics (Brater, Milline, ON) and analyzed with 874/MXV (Goldand et al., 2005).

### 2.12. Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) assay

A minimal inhibitory concernation (MIC) many was used to answer the antimicabilit activity of GAD 1 and GADs. Using the colored systepenition method (Wignard et al., 2008), 3.5 morphologically similar doolines abrold MIDP Schwirelata off (heritory) and Stapholescear intervalual (American Type Calhure Collection (2066), Manusano, VA) ware picked with a startle loop. The orbites ware transfered to startle plante captor the commising methy Madharia (Elimon beth) (MID, BD Diagnostics Ca., Ministrange, ON), and vertical for a suspend. Tarbidity of the voltein was answered perturbationetically, and was adjunted by adding more both or bacterial related to both and OP 4.25 min in the range of 04-0301, resulting in an incoeding method was denoted by the more of 04-0301, resulting in an incoeding method.

density of 1 x 10e8 colony-forming units (cfu)/ml. A further 1:200 dilution with MHB was performed to arrive at the working concentration of 5 x 10e5 cfu/ml.

Two 96-well round-bottom polypropylene plates (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) were used for the MIC assay. Lyophilized GAD-1 and GAD-2 were prepared in 20 mM phosphate buffer, pH 5, to obtain stock solutions at a concentration of 1 mg/ml, and 20 ul of these solutions were pipetted in duplicate into the wells of column 1 of plate 1. Also, 20 µl of the 20 mM phosphate buffer, pH 5, was added (column 1, plate 1) in place of the eadusciding to determine any bactericidal effects of the buffer itself. Next. 20 al of a 0.04 % acetic acid and 0.02 % bovine serum albumin solution (BSA, Siema-Aldrich Co.) was added to the wells containing the AMPs as well as the buffer control (column 1, plate 1), and the resulting solutions were mixed by pipette. Subsequently, 10 µl of a 0.02 % acetic acid and 0.01 % BSA solution was added into all wells of columns 2-10 of plate 1. In order to obtain a two-fold dilution. 10 ul from each well in column 1 was then added to each corresponding well in column 2. This procedure was repeated for each row until column 10, and the last withdrawn solution from column 10 was discarded. The bacterial suspension adjusted to 5 x 10e5 cfu/ml (described above) was then added to plate 2: 90 ulwas pipetted into columns 1-10, and 100 al into column 11 for the growth control. For the sterility control, 100 µl of MHB was pipetted into the wells of column 12 of plate 2. Once both plates were set up as described above. 10 ul from each of the 10 wells containing pentide dilutions in plate 1 was added to its corresponding wells in plate 2. The plate (2) was then sealed with breathable sealing tape, and incubated in a shaking incubator at 37°C for 16 hours. To ensure valid results, the inoculation density used in the assay was reaffirmed. Briefly, a 10 µl aliquot was removed from the growth control well

immolitately after inccatation of the plate, and pipettol into 990 µl of sterile MHB and mixed by vortening. A further 1:16 dilution of this solutions was made by pipeting (100 µl into 900 µl of MHB. Both of these incellum dilutions were plated onto MHB-ager plates (HD Diagnostices Co.), and incubated at 37°C for 16 hours. The presence of 500 and 500 solutions on these plate tables corresponds to the correct during 67 s7. Ute claim,

As stated in Wiegned et al., 2006, MIC should not be taken as correct if a pellet of 2 mm administ in the growth control well is not observed, or if the startling control is turbid. MIC 64 GAD-1 and GAD-2 is defined as in Wiegned et al., 2008 as the lowest concentration of each AMP that is sinble growth of the tested insister as observed with visual impection.

#### 2.13. Hemolytic assay

The humshifts among were completed as in Mark et al., 2004, with mixer subdivations. Fork both waits on colcuta from an Arabitic of operiorism using 14 Del systage rised with hupstice, constituged at 4°C for 5 min at 3,000 X g. The series function was and discubable and the volume van indic to be original badd with XCI (clipson Addahed). Colo The reading solution was minded by investive, constituged at 4°C for 5 min at 3,000 X g. This scaling mesoders was negread twice. Upon removing the MarC lather that bad was hade to have sub-the by investigation of the start of the s Let of GAS-21 CFS again and 7.31 gpuils wave propend in 13 at an initial their Cristians local with 100 and phosphare HME(egH 5, in a values of H00 pL. Thus, 700 pl of their and H01 RFS solutions was added and fram sinishi by transmiss. The tabue wave them placed as a start built at 72% for 00 mass, and mixed by investion. For the positive control, 500 pL of 15, (vs) 71mm X-1100 (Spans-Aldrich Ce) was added to 200 st. of HER solutions, insolution induces builting of H02 builting of the tabue control, 500 pL, of 15, (vs) 71mm X-1100 (Spans-Aldrich Ce) was and HER solutions, insolution induces builting of H02 builting of the tabue control of the provide solution of the tabue builting of H02, solution that the first second as a 40% second solution and attraction of the tabue builting of H02, second as a 50% second solution and straffig at 67 vs, 700 X gr for 3 min. The sequentians wave contractive in strender information, and another wave manuet at 511 on (the constructivity solution) control frameshiling. These tabues is an of H02 attractive tabues the interactivity in solution of threse builting attractive tabues of the 10 mg builting attractive transmitter in the more informability. These tabues are an anomated at 511 on (trademanstrikit wavedmarket) frameshiling. These tabues is solution attractive tabues of the tabueshiling.

% hemolysis = [(absorbance of sample – absorbance of negative control)/(highest absorbance for positive control)] X 100.

## 3. Results

#### 3.1. Identification of potential AMP-coding transcripts

Identification of potential AMP-coding sequences began with mining the CGP EST database (http://codgene.ca, Bowman et al. in press). This database contains EST sequences from a number of tissues obtained using techniques such as suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH), which leads to "libraries" enriched for genes upregulated or down-regulated in response to stimuli such as heat-shock or IP injection of PAMPs (e.g. bacterial antigens or viral mimic). Using the CGP EST search engine tool, I identified a notential antimicrobial AutoFACT (Koski et al. 2005) annotation on one of these sequences. GAD-1. The contin contained four ESTs (GenBank accession numbers FG315061, EY972641, EY973733, and EY974225) (Table 1, Supplemental Table S1) and encoded a putative AMP. Based on tBLASTn of contig all v2.0.10048.C1 sequence against the CGP EST database (Bowman et al. in press), we identified a contin containing two ESTs (all v2.0.3805.C2: accession numbers FF411786 and ES773100) (Table 1, Supplemental Table S1) representing a second, related cod AMP-like gene. In addition to GAD-1 and GAD-2, two additional putative AMP coding transcripts were also found by applying AMPer (Fjell et al., 2007), hidden Markov model based software to the CGP EST database. This program is designed to identify AMP sequence motifs by comparing input amino acid sequences to known AMPs that have been clustered by physicochemical properties such as hydrophobic fraction, charge, and length. Mining of the EST database with AMPer revealed two AMP-like transcripts: lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP), and a transcript with sequence similarity with snakin-2 from Solanum tuberosum. Both were assessed bioinformatically, and ten fold-coverage of the cDNA sequence of

the 3° read of the latter was obtained using by designing preference specific for the IEST representing the makine 3-like sequence, bi-directional RACC, and subsequent supporting of cloud OAK (according to maturish and methods, heatpeet the cDNA sequence of the 3° cod of the makine 3-like transcript was not obtained, and the project moved shealt with transcript expression characterization of GAD-1 and GAD-2 exclusively.

#### 3.2 GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequence identification

Buttering from the contigonous DBAA sequence identified and [2, 2, 20, 10004CC<sup>+1</sup> in the COP 15T database trapersoning GAD-1, 1 then validated the patative transition of the sequence for AAP sequence motifs using the AAPA traperson (2, 2, 2007). The patative peelde aligned with (1, value (0, 10) to AAPA programs/gride database Churter A, where representative member is drappedurin from rol are beam (3) (6) and 4, 2, 2007. The landom of URA-15T of could grid 2, 23, 2016CL (2) course gainst the COP 15T database (Downment et al. to press), we identified a cortig containing two ESTs (all x-20, 2016). Cit accession members TP41178: and EST371007 (Table 1, Supersonnal Table S1) representing assemed, from et al. AAPA (2, 6, 2022.

#### 3.3. GAD-1 and GAD-2 cDNA sequence determination

The putative AMP-coding GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequences obtained from the CGP EST database were incomplete and, thus, I needed to obtain the full-length cDNA

sequence. In order to obtain these sequences, I designed RACE primers that were complimentary to each EST sequence in order to amplify the 3' and 5' ends of the transcript. In addition, these primers were designed to our PCR amplification temperatures, and length (Section 2.3 and Table 2). Using bi-directional RACE, I obtained the full-length cDNA sequences for GAD-1 (GenBank accession number HM015527) and GAD-2 (HM015528), which are 405 bn and 401 bn in length respectively (Figure 3). Alignment of these two cDNA sequences revealed that they have 87% identity at the nucleotide level. In addition, the putative translations (Figure 3), of these nucleotide sequences were aligned, and have 61% identity at the amino acid level. For RACE, I used a cDNA template synthesized from pooled RNA from several individuals (see Methods): the sequencine of multiple GAD-2 clones revealed two sinele nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) at positions 128 (A-G) and 165 (T-C) (Figure 3). Although both SNPs were within the GAD-2 open reading frame (ORF), only the SNP at position 128 causes an amino acid change [glutamic acid (E) → glycine (G)] in the hypothetical peptide sequence. No SNPs were identified in the GAD-1 cDNA sequences.

The parative transitions for GAD-1 and GAD2 exhibited sequence similarity to methods of the pixeline financing in 6 fm. The best transport RAM2TP that for GAD-1 was artified how moreover that the original sequence of the GAD-1 was the RAM2TP that for GAD2 was a pixeline like and the more depended append of The ORO2, SetS-Kinking vor 3 AAA, The sequence multiliaries are down in the multiplesequence alignment (Figure 4). A molecular phylogenetic tree inducting the containing relationships of GAD3 and GAD2 was article or the site of the species is down in figure 5 GAD3 and GAD2 was provided with the site of the species is down.

		38	- 20			54	14	- 78	
	HDD	CO-MILLA	ITCASING	-IIPD		u	211-340		
	HCD.	CO WILL	MAN MILEL	e-141.8	14LSLP		417-100		
	W(AT	LFL9.5MV	UNIKA	. Datta	WOTD FLV	IS DALO	001021000	0000000	PHERMO
	wear	11.9.54	when		WATDRLY		03.077200		PHEAME
	*CIT	innaw	with	en crista	HEATECIN	AL HEAT	00-040		
		LILR.SLW	LANKAS		PRODUCT	15 SQUEED	QQ		FOCERANTO
	wetr		wkim	-1114218	VISION	-	0000		FOREQ-NEA
	INCAT	110.541	MIKAN	4-111GT #	WASDING	IC GUADK	00102100	000040104	PHERMOT
d grouper)	100	LFLM. SETV	MIRIAN		ANDER	-	12-02	×**	TERES AT
itel graper)	HICL	PURSIN	walau	- 11 cp. D	ANDERI	000041	10	ya	
rouker)	<b>H</b> CTA	LTCH.SLW	LAATKEEDA	R-INCOM	PLINLT	G-RAT	01-03	49.17	SPECIAL OWN
arr)	WEIN	PURSIN	UNICERS	11-11-11-P	ADDENCY		1201	×a	TREE-MA
flounder)	-	er a the	UNICESU	U-LINCIN	CLULINOED	6 NS 138	Q	49'0	DEPARTURE
( helibed)	NUTS	TOR. PROV	UNIKEDU	L. LINKON	PRIMA	6	00 ELB	0.840	[

Sancials-O (Diretto end) Nervenicità (Dirite baso) Nervenicità (Dirite baso) Nervenicità (Dirite baso) Nervenicità (Dirite perità) Nervenicità (Dirite perità Nervenicità (Diretto esta baso) Necletta-lita perità (Oriente statta grager) Necletta-lita perità (Oriente cattar) Seccetta-lita perità (Oriente cattar) Necletta-lita perità (Oriente transv) Stateschich-lita perità (Oriente Tander) Pinencicia-lita perità (Oriente Tander)

Gaduncidin-1 (Wilartic cad)

Figure 4. An amino acid source alignment of GAD-1 and GAD-2 with related sequences. The alignment was generated using the MegAlign ClustalW function (Lasergene 7.20). Asterisks were used to indicate identical residues, while colons and periods indicate concernative and semi-concernative residues (i.e. residues with similar physicochemical parameters), respectively. Identical residues in GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequences, as well as their best Uninest BLASTP hits, are highlighted in dark error. Identical residues between either GAD-1 or GAD-2 and related sequences are highlighted in light error. The sequence names are followed by the common names of their species of origin. Following the sequence names, the scientific names for all species (in parentheses) and the GenBank and/or Uniprot accession numbers for these sequences are listed as follows: GAD-1 (Goday morbus) HM015527: GAD-2 (Goday morbus) HM015528: motonecidin (Morone scratilic) OSUUGO: motonecidin (Morone chryson) O8UUG2: moronecidin (Anonlonoma fimbria) C3KH06: moronecidin (Sininerca chnatsi) O2VWH5: dicentracin (Anonlonoma fimbria) C3KHI8: dicentracin (Dicentrarchus labras) P59906; piscidin-like peptide (Epinephelus akaara) B3VE23; niscidin-like pentide (Entwenhelus catatdes) B3VE24: niscidin-like pentide (Larimichtless crocea) B3VE22: eninecidin-1 (Eninepholae caioidee) O6JWO9: nleurocidin-like pentide (Pleuronectes americanus) O7T054: pleurocidin-like peptide (Hinpoglossus hippoglassus) Q78ZG6.



Figure 5. Molecular phylogenetic analysis of GAD-1 and GAD-2. The phylogenetic tree was generated using MEGA4 (Famura et al., 2007) from the best GAD-1 and GAD-2. Uniprot BLASTP hits (E-values c ) as in Figure 4. The tree was bootstrapped 10,000 times, and these bootstrap values are down as percentages. peptides and epinecidin-1, and more distantly related to the moronecidins and dicentracins (Figure 5).

#### 3.4. GAD-1 and GAD-2 constitutive mRNA expression

Upon obtaining full-length cDNA sequences for GAD-1 and GAD-2, QPCR primers were designed for transcript expression studies (e.g. to assess constitutive expression of these transcripts in a number of tissues). Paralogue-specific primers were designed to ensure that GAD-1 primers would not amplify GAD-2 and vice versa. OPCR data showed that there was high transcript expression variability between individuals for a given tissue. For example, in gill, the relative quantity values (RQs) of GAD-1 ranged from 4.5 in individual No. 6 to 789.5 in individual No. 4 (Fig. 4C, Supplemental Table S3A). In spleen, GAD-2 ROs ranged from 448.5 in individual No. 5 to 4,162.3 in individual No. 4 (Fig. 4D, Supplemental Table S3B). In some cases, high RQ in one tissue corresponded with high RO in others; however, this generalization cannot be made for every individual (Figure 6). The expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcripts was detectable in all 6 tissues examined in the constitutive expression study. However, the expression of these transcripts ranged widely across different tissues. The mRNA expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 in spleen (the tissue with the highest expression of both GAD-1 and GAD-2) was 157.6 fold (for GAD-1) and 617.1 fold (for GAD-2) greater than their transcript expression in brain (the tissue with the lowest GAD-



Figure 6. (PCR assessment of constitutive expension of GiAM (40) and GiAC2 (80) issuedpti in multiple times. Topposite data are presented as most () standard meretario quarty (80) constrained in 10% thoseand EAN, Ra Vashav were autiliated to the individual with the lowest scenario (2004) or (13k32 expression. Martial latters indicate on training largeflatt actions in approxima for each times composition (§ 40). Supervision for each times was calculated ratives to the lowest expressing thread in (neurong RG) for each times(1) energy RG for brain). RQ values for individual fabilities in the task yare shown in panch C ((3A32-1) and 1) ((A32-2)) (Supplementil Tasks YS).

1 and GAD-2 transcript expression) (Figure 6A, B). GAD-2 mRNA expression in spleen was significantly (p<0.05) higher than in blood, pyloric caecum, or brain (Figure 6B, D).</p>

## 3.5. GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression response to bacterial antigens

After completing the multi-tissue constitutive expression analysis of GAD-1 and GAD-2, another OPCR study was carried out to assess any changes in expression upon bacterial antigen (ASAL) or saline injection (PBS). GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcripts were greater than 2-fold up-regulated (compared to the ASAL tank 0 h controls) by ASAL in spleen (Figure 7A.C) but not in head kidney (Figure 7B, D). For GAD-1, maximum ASAL response in spleen was observed at 2 HPI (3.6 fold up-regulated compared to 0 h; p = 0.056 for the 2 HPI versus 0 h ASAL groups), and transcript expression was significantly different (p < 0.05) in the 2 HPI and 24 HPI ASAL groups (Figure 7A). For GAD-2, maximum ASAL response in spleen was seen at 6 HPI (2.1 fold up-regulated compared to 0 h; p = 0.129 for the 6 HPI versus 0 h ASAL groups), and transcript expression was significantly different in the 6 HPI and 72 HPI ASAL groups (Figure 7C). In response to PBS injection. GAD-1 transcript was erroter than 2-fold down-regulated in both spleen (5.7 fold compared to 0 h, no significant differences between PBS time points) and head kidney (2.8 fold compared to 0 h) at 6 HPL and GAD-1 transcript expression in head kidney was significantly different between the PBS 6 HPI and 72 HPI groups



Figure 7. CPC analysis of CADA 1 (e), Ru and GAD2 2; C, D) munority expression in sphere (A, C) and head kidney (B, D) provisionis (H) and at four time points after sphere (A, C) and head kidney (B, D) provisionis (H) and at four time points after singlenismical injection of phosphate-beffician data (PBF) of fourtal-kidn, arguing A. subservisioni (KRA). Expression data are presented as mene () standard errors relative quantity (RQ) normalized to 115 forsemed BNA. RQ values were collected as the inicidanal with the lower sementiand GADA and GADA2 expressions. First kapregulations for each injection time-point was calculated as (neuroge RQ)/everage RQ for pro-injection of most group). Down-regulations was calculated as the instruct of this particitation of the cubes was from down. Channel States induces are statisticity significant difference in expression (p > 105) for each time point part injection within and treatmane. Annalish admate a antimically significant difference (j < 107) between AAAL and PBR for a part of participant difference provingioning. (Figure 7Ab). Intensiting), GAD2 immergives significantly sprepalated by PRis is sprion at 2107 (21 fold) compared to both 0 and 12107 HKS gauges (Figure 7X). In sprion at 2107 (21 fold) compared to both 0 and 12107 HKS gauges (Figure 7X). In both 1200 (20 for 1200

## 3.6. Nodarirus carrier state and transcript expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2

Some individuals used in this study and previous natives were found to be asymptomatic curriers of nodarisms (Rine et al. 2008; Rine et al. 2009; Forg et al. 2009; Indight noderivous entrative was also use to label them interscript expression for second immuner-televant geneses (Rine et al., 2010). Noderivous currier stude was dottmined by Charlos Y. Forg (Xeans Science, Canter, Manneald Liniveshily) in the second immuner televant pairs and FERS the and methods in its Rise et al. 2008; Print immunity values (Supplemental Table S2) of RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using moderivan-peeding primers (Supplemental Table S2) or RT-PCR hands generated using study stu comproted as "where mediative", while individual with while mediative RFCRM bands frame priori intensity in the range (1057) to 37,574, see Supplemental Tables SL 54, and SD were compared as "high orderine" for the propose of attribution analysis. For frame, the purplemental Tables SD and immuse tissues (repress and least doils) approprintent Tables SD (2014) and GAD2 memory tenyorisis during the appropriate differences (p > 0.555) between the noders malering language the purplement differences (p > 0.555) between the noders malering language the purplement differences (p > 0.555) between the noders malering language the purplement differences (p > 0.555) between the noders malering language that (p = 0.564) are "BMAA expression in the transm."

#### 3.7. GAD-1 and GAD-2 mature peptide sequence and structure prediction

GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcripts encoded peptides that were 54 and 52 residues in longth, repeatively (Figure 3). However, AMPs are often strandard as prepropertides, and processed to the mature, active form. GAD-1 and GAD-2 sequences were input into the signal P server (Niches et al., 1997). Bondiene et al., 2004;

Implives when all downees Signally, which produces signal periodic discusses at the same site, between mains and resident 22-23. Fordering of the animet, AMP downees are similar instellates of the proproperiodic, its cleancy gridds the matter AMP downees site was facilitated using sequence similarity and charge distribution comparisons with other known AMPs, and resulted in a cleancy of 11 residues from the N-streminus of both GAD 1 and GAD. In the program of 11 residues from the N-streminus of both GAD 1 and GAD. The https://downees.inter.cleance.cleanc

http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/clustalw2/index.html).

A helical wheel model was used to determine amphipathicity of GAD-1 and GAD-2 putative matter sequences in an o-belical conformation. Using the University of California, Irote Membrane Protein Explorer Version 3.2 helical wheel applet it was determined that both GAD-1 and GAD-2 could take on an amphipathic structure (Figure 30.

## 3.8. Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy

OAD: Just CAD-2 pairs' emerge periods were chemisally synthesisted, and periods using HTC: Chemistry (High Che

CD performance year carried or to estimate recording' structural distructivities of subhilized parative mature (ADA) and GAD-2 in approximation and membrane-minicatior solutionments. CD spectra of *Dy* add GAD-3 and GAD-2 beforess were recorded at 23°C and pH 5 in approximation and an its methrane-minicatic environments. Socionality structure control was estimated from the CD spectra following the method of Yang et al. 1966. The secondary structure of GAD-1 in approximation, 20 mM dishnaic phophate (*Dy*, secondary structure), so the size of the secondary control of CMD-1 and CMD-1 and CMD-1 and CMD, secondary structure of GAD-1 in approximation.











Figure 18. 10FLC spectrum of GAD2-dataset with an scenaritific gradient. Simples were run through a memory-datose 10FLC chromatographer exployed with a proparatory 1970AAMAC GA exham. The interpop lightest aborbance in mills shorbance units (mAU) at 215 maj pok (~ 12 min) was extended and confirmed to hore a mass consistent with GAD2 by MALDE TOU-MS.



Figure 11. CD spectra of 30 µM GAD-1 dissolved in 20 mM pH 5 diluxic phosphate buffier an well as in the presence of A) 20 % TFL (B) 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC liposence, C) 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC liposence (See section 2.10 for Iposence preparation), and D) 1 mM 3D5 Spicosence. All spectra were taken using a 1 mm publogific quert coverts then 91% nm 1500 nm 420°C.


GAD-1	a-helix	β-structure	Random
PB	6	27	67
TFE	35	25	40
POPC	38	34	28
POPG	44	55	1
SDS	16	57	27

Figure 12: complicit approximation and conceptualing potentiage of workshop areasted distancements of 20 and GAD-1 distorted in 20 and 31 5 distinct phoneline which (PM), as well as in its presented 21% STTL; Lask 20 30 and distance PCVD Ippunare, 1 and 220 20 and distance PCVD Ippunare, and 1 and XDS Ippunare. Note that CD2 with XDX was predented using a different mark industria work, this, same th with XDX was predented using a different mark industria work, this, same th combinition of 2 down and 2 downs, we make an other of a tablic, 3-monthe facendentiation of 2 downs, and 2 downs, we make an other of the tablic of 2 downs and 2 downs, we have the table of tables of the table of the table of tables of the tables of tab

The composition of GAD2: was largely undern on it in approx. should (2% ubils), 25% is structure and 72% random city27 (game 13A, 14) as well as in the prosone GAD5 TFL (1% - hishes). "Sub-structure and 75% should no city27 (game 13A, 14) and attivitie (DPG5) (prostness (75 nr belic), 32% is structure and 42% studies exist(27) game to (2, 16, 16) encourse, the prostness of PGFC (prosones inkond a structure data) monitority (prostness (75 nr belic), 32% is structure and 37% random city27 (game 13B, 14), Interstaling), in the presence of SD5, which content of GAD2 remains indire is that of other annohunce institutes. Structure, the proneer of SD5 structure inspresely instand absence frames (Figure 13B, 14).



Figure 13. CD spectra of 30 gAR GAD-2 dissolved in 20 mM pH 5 dibusic phosphate buffer as well as in the presence of AJ 20 % TFF, BJ 1 mM 200 um diameter POPC lipsonence, CJ 1 mM 200 nm diameter POPC lipsonenc SH section 2.10 for lipsonenc preparation, and DJ 1 mM 505 lipsonence. All spectra were takton unitg a 1 mm publiandu nauer coverts from 10 mm 18 200 mm 20 PC.



GAD-2	a-helix	β-structure	Random
PB	3	25	72
TFE	4	25	71
POPC	17	26	57
POPG	6	32	62
SDS	16	63	21

Figure 14. Complied repromotion and compounding presentages of sensoring metanel disconstraints of 20 pdG GAD2 dissoluted in 20 add pdT 4 dhost phonghen method (Pd), as well as in the promoted 21% TVTL 2003 and molecure PCPC liqueous, 11 add 2003 on distance PCPC liqueous, and 1 add 2004 dissolute PCPC with SDC was preferred using a different metho address and, thus, rame b exposed distribution of the preferred and the preferred and the premote distribution of the precession of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution of the method and the present distribution of the present distribution

## 3.9. Preliminary solution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) structural characterization of GAD-1 and GAD-2

DMM studies were carried out to assess structural characteristics of OAD-1 and OAD-2 is an enclower some enclowers of OAD-1 and OAD-2 is an enclower some enclowers of OAD-1 and OAD-1 and

MODBY experiment showed and GAD3. Into 12 TINENT exerutations inducing a prior of TIN simo offers to each durk in grass. A showed both TISH VIG interses of the secar in helical structure (Wathrich, 1986), and thus indicate that at load 13 GAD3. Treishew are in a blical confirmation (Figure 19), However, the GAD3. MODES Model of 71 FisH Net constantion (Figure 20), which indicates that GAD3. The soluboil character than GAD3. As well as providing some preliminary structural data, these NMR spectra indicates that GAD3 and GAD3 will be anneable for fittary metastatistical and a distorming and reproducing some preliminary structural states and and distorming anneable metastatistical software in the spectra of the structure of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the spectra of the structure of the spectra of the spec



Figure 15. ID valution NMR <sup>3</sup>II spectrum of GAD-1. The peptide sample (2 mM) was disorbed at pH3 is a valuation of 99% H(O, 19% D,O, 0.2 mAt DDS, and 150 mM destenated SDS. The spectrum was acquired with 16 scans and percented using Top Spin (Braker).



Figure 16. 1D solution NMR<sup>1</sup> H spectrum of GAD-2. The peptide sample (2 mM) was dissolved at pH 5 in a solution of 99% H(z), 10% D/O, 0.2 mM D/DS, and 150 mM dottented SDS. The spectrum was sequired with 16 scans and processed using Top Spin (Poster).



Figure 17. Solution NMR 2D TOCSY spectrum of GAD-1. The psychide sample (2 mM) wan dissolved at pHI 5 in a solution of 95% EQ, 10:50 EQ, 0.2 mM TOSS, and 159 mM desterated SDS. The spectrum was acquired with 125 scans and a mixing time of 80 ms. The proceeding was done using NMM (<u>reglywavimenze</u>).



Figure 18. Solution NMB 2D TOCSY spectrum of GAD-2. Peptide samples (2 mM) were disorbed at p14 5 in a solution of 97% 1DO, 196 DOD, 0.2 mM DOS, and 150 mM deaterated SDS. The spectrum was acquired with 128 scans and a mixing time of 10 ms. The processing was done using NSM, GM(prolynew Jacrazov).



Figure 19. Solution NMR 2D NOESY spectrum of GAD-1. The peptide sample (2 mM) was dissolved at pH 2 is a solution of 90% H/Q, 10% H/Q, 0.2 mM DSS, ndl 150 mM deuterated SDS. The spectrum was acquired with 128 scens and a mixing time of 150 m. The processing was dones using BM2 display/www.herm.extl.



Figure 28. Solution NMR 2D NOESY spectrum of GAD-2. The peptide sample (2 mM) was disorded at pH 25 is a solution of 99% 1020, 10% 1202, 0.2 and 1058, and 150 mM destenated SDS. The spectrum was acquired with 128 scans and a mixing time of 150 m. The processing wave dones using SDMR (http://www.iama.ext). 3.10. Determination of minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) for GAD-1 and GAD-2

To dotumine the antimochoid effects of parative manner (ADF) and (ADA), an antimicrobial (MIG) many was carried on A. Tos MIC values of synthesis, Commission and Add (ADF) and ADF) parative manner perpetitions were dotumined for a Gause positive and Gause negative species, S. intermedias and E. only, respectively (Figure 21) GAD1 was none potent in basetial gaves this billiotis, with MIC values two-fold lower than GAD2-S for why them species tools (TABA). Frame 23A.

## 3.11. Determination of hemolytic activity of GAD-1 and GAD-2

To dotumine if parative manner (AD)-1 and CAD2-papels has large effect on onkaryotic real Mood ratio (BBCs), hamolytic activity for both was dotumined. The origination advance field (CAD)-1 exhibiting paratic hearboylitic activity than (CAD)-2 (Fable (J), Al 123 papent, GAD-1 and GAD-2 indexed 24% and 32% homelysis, respectively. At a lower concentration (CAI 1) grin(b), homelysis, antivity of GAD-1 was still granter at 21% compared to 19% or GAD-2 (Fable 6). Table 3, Results of antimicrobial susceptibility testing; GAD-1 and GAD-2 minimal inhibitory

	GAD-1 (µg/ml)1	GAD-2 (µg/ml)
Staphylococcus intermedius (+)	6.1 (± 3.1)	25 (± 12.5)
Escherichia coli (-)	12.5 (± 6.1)	50 (± 25)

concentration (MIC) values with a Gram-positive and Gram-negative species.

<sup>1</sup>MIC determination and solution conditions for these AMPs can be found in section 2.11.

				4		. 6	8	9	80		
GAD-1 E. coli	x	x	x	8	0	8		8	0	GC	sc
GAD-2 E. coli	x	0			8					GC	SC
GAD-1 5. intermedian	x	x	x	x						GC	SC
GAD-2 S intermediat	x	X								ec	SC
Buffer Control										GC	SC

Figure 21. Graphical representation of the portion of a 96-well plate and for the MIC amay Orkekine 2.123, Note that an "X" represents neural growth (addined by Wingared et al (2009) as being >2 mm), GC represents the growth control and SC represents attribute control (function 2.123). Table 4. Results of GAD-1 and GAD-2 hemolytic assay using Atlantic cod red blood cells (RBCs).

	GAD-1 (%) <sup>1</sup>	GAD-2 (%)
Peptide conc. 125 µg/ml	42	32
Peptide conc. 7.81 µg/ml	21	14

<sup>1</sup> Determination of percent hemolysis of Atantic cod RBCs can be found in section 2.12.

## 4. Discussion

In this study, two AMP-like transcripts were identified in Atlantic cod by mining the CGP EST database. These raralogous transcripts were termed eaduscidins (GAD-1 and GAD-2), derived from the perus name of Atlantic cod. Gadus, GAD-1 and GAD-2 encoded putative AMPs that are 54 and 52 residues, respectively. Based on the sequences of GAD-1 and GAD-2, the multiple sequence alignment and phylogenetic analyses success that these AMPs belong to the niscidin family, while representing a distinct group of AMPs within this family (Figure 4 and 5). Using the CGP EST database, Fernandes et al. (2010) also published a short paper that described a cod piscidin transcript, which I this Atlantic cod piscidin-like transcript. My thesis work also includes the identification of an additional cod piscidin transcript (GAD-2) that is likely paralogous to GAD-1 based on sequence similarity. Expression of both of these transcripts was assessed constitutively and upon bacterial or saline injection. In addition, the putative mature peptides were chemically synthesized and assessed structurally, and used in assays, which confirm that they indeed possess antimicrobial activity.

QPCPC analysis revealed that GAD1 and GAD2 mergine epression was bighten in sphere, head kilkey, and gift, intermediate in peripheral blood, and lower in hydro cascum and hear line. Beigh levels of constitution RIMA, expression in band kilkey and sphere are consistent with the immune functions of those tissue in belowst. Similarly, a provious study in hydrol atraped hear abor needed high levels of momencident transcript expression in head kildeys and sphere (Landa et al., 2022), in distillation to high cloved a quadration transcript expression in insume times, the

expression of these transcripts were also high in gill. Previous studies in winter floander have localized pleurocidin transcripts and protein products in epithelial cells of the skin and intestine (Cole et al., 1997, 2000). Although I did not examine epithelial tissues other than gill for GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression, it is possible that cod epithelial cells also synthesized the endoscidia transcrints detected in eill. The high levels of eaduscidin mRNA expression in head kidney, spleen, and eill are also consistent with the recent findings by Ruangsri et al. (2010), who demonstrated high antimicrobial activities contained within the crude protein extracts from these tissues in Atlantic cod. Several previous studies have demonstrated AMP expression in immune cells of various species. For example, piscidin-1 and piscidin-3 from hybrid striped bass have been localized to mast cells (Silehaduane and Noga, 2001). Similarly, Mulero et al (2008) determined that piscidins are contained within the granules of circulating mast cells and acidicophilic granulocytes of gilthead seabream (Sparus gurata). In human, a small (a-helical AMP, the cathelicidin hCAP18/LL37 is also produced in immune cells including natural-killer cells, mast cells, and neutrophils (Lai and Gallo, 2009). In light of these previous demonstrations of AMP expression in immune cells of various species, the expression of GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcripts in cod blood may likewise be due to the presence of gaduscidin transcripts in circulating immune cells. Interestingly, I found that GAD-2 mRNA was expressed in blood and head kidney at similar levels (148.2 and 212.8-fold higher than in brain, respectively), whereas there was a greater than 10-fold difference in GAD-1 mRNA expression in blood and head kidney (10.0 and 125.0-fold higher than in brain, respectively). This suggests an important role for GAD-2 in peripheral blood, a hypothesis that warrants further investigation.

Constitutive transpire expression (GAD-1 and GAD-2 unced gardty between individuals for the insues total (Figure (CC and D), Is human, it has been shown that the transpire expression is the off heydenic achibits high variation in expression ghosespace parality due to a variety of garder, factors (Heydei and Seat, 2009), For example, the polynomyber co-softing meso-softing regions of the heydeila garee can meak in alternatiinguintion of heydein transpired by objective and seature the individual (Huyder and Seat, 2009). The high biological variation in GAD-1 and GAD-2 transpire (preservice shows) is our QPCD1 tably may likewise be attributed to gravite variations means individuals.

Dependption of constitutive engression analysis, hearming attegins (ASAL) isipation analysis are anried at to assume if the pathetical transcripts were included in timume relevant interes). Monitarial immidiants: ARAL analysiss and the this subtranscripts and analysis and the analysis of the ASAL analysis and analysis of the analysis of the ASAL analysis and the ASAL interaction of the Origin at a conductivity of the ASAL and and the ASAL and and the Origin and a conductivity of the ASAL and a conductivity of the Origin and a SHIP) is implement and hand the ASAL in the ASAL and a soft point Ci 2107 and AS HIP) is implement into the ASAL in the ASAL and ASAL. The analysis of the ASAL and ASAL and ASAL and ASAL and a soft previous in a similar results have been observed in previous analysis, he hybrid angred hasa, takk of singlefacture oppositions of pathetic transcripts following similarity of Stopposecure inside changes was previously showed (Eash et al. 2002) in mund (Adpheng adisposeciality), interactivity of the ASAL conductivity and accessing the haddware assession of anomality and PSAL Schlema et al. 2002) in mund (Adpheng adisposeciality), interactivity and PSAL Schlema et al. 2003) in the ASAL and A injetion with a different benefit species (*l'Diro angulitarus*) inducts replications (*l*-Ghuse *et al* 2009). It is possible that the induchtly of GLAD-1 and GADcorporation (*l*-Ghuse *et al* 2009). It is possible that the induchtly of GLAD-1 and GADfor dimatching on the species of bacterial and the generate the antigans for dimatching. It is also reasonable to and GAD-2 expression than injection of the AGAA induced and the current study. A subset possibility for the lack of AGAA induced and the current study. The AGAA induced and the generated by post-innercipoint explanatory mechanism. Similarly, not standing and the Mas in they are other translated with a signal popular and pro-picce, which are enzymmically clorered to spicial the matter performs. Therefore, the expression and activity of AMA's are alw highly denoders on the exercises of certain structure (and GLR). 2009.

Which hustnish dathings his frees shown to came AMF immunorie industries, for AMFs may be subject to regulation at the protice level of weak simularly, the abundance of a particular AMF transmitty may not complete with the level of the propagation of the level of the action, matter AMF, in the times (Link et al., 2003). The link also been shown then presentes from c4 AMFs and the stored at high commentations in strandhilder granulus for relators when needed (Lin and CLin 2003), which due provides another provide regulatory mechanism for galaxieting arguments for the AMF and the store of the store of the store of the store of the high commentation of the store fractions and the store of the store of

for gaduscidins. Thus, it is important that the mechanisms involved in regulation of these cod patative AMPs are elucidated.

Expression of immune-relevant genes in Atlantic cod brain can be affected by asymptomatic nodavirus carrier status (Rise et al., 2010). Therefore, we investigated if high nodavirus carrier state influenced GAD-1 or GAD-2 transcript expression in brain and immune-relevant genes. Viruses within the family Nodaviridae have been responsible for serious disease outbreaks in many species of marine fish (Chia et al., 2009). Upon exposure to this RNA virus, some fish can survive and become asymptomatic carriers. Chia et al. (2009) showed that two AMPs, tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus) hepcidin 1-5 and cyclic shrimp (Oenaeus monodon) antilipopolysaccharide factor, exhibited antiviral activity against grouper nervous necrosis virus (GNNV) in vitro. Previous studies have shown that some of the fish used in our study were asymptomatic carriers of Atlantic cod nervous necrosis virus (ACNNV) (Rise et al., 2008; Feng et al., 2009; and Rise et al 2010). In addition, while asymptomatic high nodavirus carrier state had no significant effect on the basal expression of 13 immunerelevant transcripts in spleen (Rise et al., 2008), it had significant impact on the expression of several immune-relevant transcripts in brain (Rise et al., 2010). Therefore, it was important to determine if nodavirus carrier state influenced constitutive GAD-1 or GAD.2 transmist expression. Our analysis demonstrated that there was no statistically significant effect of high nodavings carrier state on constitutive transcript expression of GAD-1 or GAD-2 in head kidney or spleen (Supplemental Figure S1, Supplemental Table S2). As previously noted, a similar result was observed in a study showing that high nodavirus carrier state in the brain had no statistically significant effect on the basal

expression of 13 immune games in splerer (Rise et al., 2009). In addition, constitutive GAD-1 and GAD-2 transcript expression in brain was not significantly affected by high modavirus carrier state. Therefore, the noderina carrier state of influiduals involved in the QPCR studies presented in this thesis did not appear to influence the transcript expression results.

Upon completion of GAD-1 and GAD-2 nucleotide sequence characterization and various transcript expression studies, the study continued with the prediction of mature GAD-1 and GAD-2 peptide sequences, and chemical synthesis of both. Members of the piscidin family such as moronecidin and diacentracin (Cole et al., 1997; Lauth et al., 2002), are translated as prepropeptides, and processed to the mature, active form and, thus, it can be expected that GAD-1 and GAD-2 are processed in a similar manner. Processing of full-length AMPs often involves 1) signal peptide cleavage at the Nterminus, and 2) enzymatic cleavage of the C-terminal anionic pro-piece. Thus, bioinformatics sequence comparisons with known piscidin family members, and signal predicted that the signal peptide cleavage site on both gaduscidins was at the N-terminal side of the phenylalanine at residue 22, which corresponds to the signal peptide cleavage sites for more recipient and diacentracin (Cole et al., 1997; Lauth et al., 2002). Cleavage of the anionic num-nioce was also predicted by highlight anti-instance comparisons with other fish AMPs. Thus, nutative mature GAD-1 (FIHHIIGWISHGVRAIHRAIH), and GAD-2 (FLHHIVGLIHHGLSLFGDR) were 21 and 19 residues long, respectively, and and histidine (23.8%) rich, while putative mature GAD-2 also appeared to be histidine-

rich (21 YNA) for was interestingly bacture chi (21 21 A). It should be used furth the ignal periodic and pro-piece charage sites reported here are mostly predictions, and it wine that of the and GADs 2 in stressors work of the AMP sequences. In addition, our characted synthesis resulted in C-terminal anistation of GAD-1 and GADs. Although princident isotated as vious are office C-terminally amidated (Chardmere et al., 2006), indications of GAD-1 and GADs 2 would be required to confirm any post translational modifications.

Both parties name peptide calibility anylophic characteristics who models an ordered micrater, with high-patholic and hydrophilic amins alch on projection sites of the projection of matter momental to a helical-whole projection of matter momentality (Lant et al., 2003), and where Howber plearesting (Cdu et al., 1997), suggesting a similar configuration for pathor matter GAD 1 and GAD-2. To confirm the predictions of an amplity-patho choical metaterus constructions of the hydrogeneous matter control and configuration and and constructions of the hydrogeneous matter GAD and GAD-2 was able confirmed on an anti-patholic confirmed and an anti-patholic obscillation and an employment of the second se

CD and MM spectroscy was carried on to determine mould by obtained inducesticies of GMDs and GMDs patients meaning perides. CD analysis of GMDindicatos that it adapts a predominandy madow coll structure is approve adaption. You adapts a community approximation of and a prostates in the presence of TFL and a sharper a community and an indicator in the presence of the structure of the constrainties (GPO) and another the president (MD) and its relativistics (GPO) and another the president (MD) and and inferences therein, also included granter to folded another is president (MD) and a structure in the presence which of HEMT and the sharp of another is GDD in a surgered to assess which of HEMTs 11, 23. Monthers another conventions, convinging of

zwitterionic (POPC) and anionic (POPG) liposomes also induced structural changes, compared to aqueous solution. 1D 1H and 2D TOCSY NMR spectra also indicate GAD-1 is structured in the presence of a membrane mimetic (deuterated SDS; Figure 15 and 17). In addition, 2D NOESY NMR experiments demonstrated that GAD-1 adopts an a-helical structure at least 13 residues in length (Figure 19), Similarly, Chekmenev et al. (2006) determined that C-terminally amidated piscidin-1 and piscidin-3 take on an α-helical conformation in the presence of a 1:3 PC: PG membrane-mimetic environment. The charge of the lipid head-group has an impact on the secondary structural composition of (POPG) liposomes as compared to zwitterionic (POPC) liposomes (Figures 11, 12). (Figure 12B) and exhibited a 20% increase toward β-structure in the presence of POPG as compared to POPC. This suggests a strong interaction with an anionic membrane such as those found in Stankulococcus aureus and Bacillus subtilis (Frand et al., 2009). This is in contrast to a zwitterionic membrane-mimetic environment (POPC), where GAD-1 was still 28% random coil; this observation may indicate a lesser interaction with membranes such as human RBCs, which are composed of zwitterionic phospholipids such as POPC

GAD-2, however, remained primarily random coil in aquoous solution, as well as in the presence of TFE and nationic POPG liposomes (Figures 13, 14), GAD-2 a-belical content increased moderately in a zwitterionic (POPC) membrane mimetic environment, bus secondary structure was largely limited to β-structure, which was low (-25%) when

compared to matches and another (=299,267) game 14(0), 10<sup>1</sup> Jiu and 201 TCCCY 15005 experiments indicated that GADs 2-16 structure of the presence of document MSG effigures 16 and 13(), however, the 20 NOESY indicates that it had loss scheduled document that GADs 2 with a helity prediction of a laset 1 residence (Tigure 20), West comparing scoreducity structured documentations in approve and memotynes means environments. GADs 2 data not childri a marked mechanical dataget as document with GADs 1, linewere, tradies using different memory memory and probasiohanical presenters marked with different memory attratement.

It should be noted that our CD data for GAD-1 and GAD-2 is the presence of SDS does not agree with MMR result. Although a different stock solution of peptide was used, the helical content should be comparable to that of our NMR data. Thus, running the NMR sample itself will allow the identification of the discrepancy, and this will be the focus of a finner study.

Abhungi GAD-1 and GAD-2 are encoded by pandapuse pares and abure materials and amine axis sequence similarity, it is evident that these perpides childre structural durance interactions in the immediate from 1 in High the manufacterior memory with Ead 10 GAD-1 children (end) is a sequence versus membrane-minimiz architectural children (end) and the GAD-1 and the structural children (end) and the GAD-1 children from (end) and distance, and had an oblets of general length than GAD-2. Although therlare XMR stations are required to chickfur the mechanism by which GAD-1 and GAD-2 dompt membranes (Figure 1), it is it ladly that GAD-2 and equal to the historidensity of the stationary structure the period general tength of the membranes at its functionary required the gada-2 dompt queues the structure tength of the

membrane (-10 Ag Enock et al., 2000). Discreter, it is possible fund GDD2 may form a dime to span the non-brane, similar to that of the 15-residue grannicidin from Ruclin bero (Losseice et al., 1055). Sort-though our performing: NMR analysis revealed hat both GAD1 and GAD2 were structured in a numbrane-minetic environment, further SMR studies are required to determine the three dimensional (10) trusteurs with annies resolution. Using 'H-SMR: Compagns et al. (2007) determined that pixelsdan 1 kdp sympositic pixel (1000) and the structure studies and the studied power mediation (Figure 1C). Due to sequences at all more similar to the touridad power mediations (Figure 1C). Due to sequences similarity therease pixelsio1 and the gadascidane, is possible fund (2004) and (2004). The questions that formided power mediations (FIGURE 1C). The MCMAD are consistent with the structure of the structure stru

It was also determined by CD and "N solid near NMC, the protocol 1 is a 121 min with a single dimensionly/hower hard body of the protocol of the Mayer where it alongs are a solid al vectore (CAMPO) is body in the place of the Mayer where it alongs are a solid al vectore (CAMPO) is along where the Mayer where it alongs are a solid al vectore (CAMPO) is along with the solid result of the protocol of MMC and DMPG is show that make presents from the hydrophile side of princisles <sup>12</sup> along the solid protocol of the approximation of the approximatic and the solid protocol of the solid protocol of the approximation of the approxiation of DMPC (and DMPG is show that make presents from the hydrophile side of princisles at the higher theorem (and the hydrophile side) and the approximation of the solid protocol of the hydrophile side of the approximation of the solid protocol of the hydrophile side of the approximation of the solid protocol of the hydrophile side of the approximation of the solid protocol of the hydrophile side of the approximation of the solid protocol of the hydrophile side of the approximation of the solid protocol of the hydrophile side of the hydrophile side of the Approximation of the approximation of the hydrophile side of the hydrophile side of the Approximation of the approximation of the hydrophile side of the hydrophile side of the Approximation of the approximation of the hydrophile side of thydrophile side of thydrophile side of the hydrophile side of the h

Structural studies are an important primary step in ascertaining the mechanism of an AMP. However, functional assays were needed to confirm that GAD-1 and GAD-2 nossess antimierobial activity. To assess antimicrobial efficacy against a Gram-nositive and Gram-negative bacterial species. MIC functional assays were carried out using both eaduscidins. It was determined that C-terminally amidated putative mature GAD-1 and GAD-2 both exhibited antimicrobial activity against S. intermedius (Gram-negative) and E. coli (Gram-positive). GAD-1 MIC values were two-fold lower than those of GAD-2 in the case of both species analyzed, indicating that it may be a more potent AMP. Other members of the piscidin family have comparable antimicrobial activities with the gaduscidins. For example, MIC values against E. coli for hybrid striped bass piscidin-1 and piscidin-3 were both 3.1 µg/ml (Silphaduang and Noga, 2001), compared to 12.5 up/ml for GAD-1, and and 50 up/ml for GAD-2. However, hybrid striped bass piscidin-4 exhibited comparable antimicrobial activity to GAD-2 (50 up/ml), and less activity than GAD-1 in a MIC assay using E. coli (Noga et al., 2009). In the case of Staphylococcus aureur, piscidin-1 and piscidin-3 MIC values were 3.1 µg/ml, while piscidin-4 values ranged from 6.3-12.5 µg/ml, GAD-1 and GAD-2 exhibited MIC values of 6.1 and 25 up/ml respectively against another Staphylococcus species (S. intermedius); however, S. aureus was not tested. Although gaduscidin AMP sequences are quite divergent from other fish species (Figure 4 and 5), they still have potent antibacterial activity against the

GAD-1 and GAD-2 exhibit less antimicrobial activity than other piscidin family members, but appear to be more effective in activity than frog AMPs, and are comparable in activity to wasp (Xu et al., 2005) and human (Saos et al., 2008) AMPs. The aurein

AMPs, derived from secretions from the granular dorsal glands of the green and golden bell frogs, Litoria aurea and Litoria raniformis, respectively exhibit MIC values of 50 unimit against S. aurous. Stankulaeaccus enidermidis, and Strentococcus uberis (Rozek et al. 2000: Annonyi et al. 2004). Conlon et al. (2008) determined that numerous AMPs isolated from skin secretions of hose's rock frog, Odorrana hosii, have MIC values of 62.5 µg/ml or greater when tested against E. coli and S. aweus. AMPs derived from wasp (Vespa magnifica) venom are comparable in activity to GAD-1 and GAD-2, with MIC values of ranging from 7.5-30 µg/ml, against E. coli (Xu et al., 2005). In addition, vespid (wasp) AMPs exhibited MIC values in the range of 3.7-10 µg/ml against S. aureus. Human AMPs such as hBD-3 and hCAP18/LL-37 exhibit MIC values similar to those of lower vertebrate species. MIC values were determined to be 7.4 and 12.9 ug/ml against S. aureus for these human AMPs (hBD-3 and hCAP18/LL-37), respectively (Sass et al., 2008). Song et al. (2008) also determined that recombinant hBD-3 MIC value was >25 ug/ml against E. coli and, thus, GAD-1 has greater antimicrobial activity than this human AMP. Although an in vitro MIC assay is a good indication of antimicrobial activity, it is just one measure of AMP efficacy, and many other parameters are involved in vitro. For example, in the interest of survival, many bacterial species are known to adjust their membrane composition by metabolic means (Zhang et al., 2008). In addition, the vast number of bacterial species and varying membrane lipid composition between them further complicates the study of antimicrobial activity.

To assess if GAD-1 or GAD-2 putative mature peptides have any effect on eukaryotic cells, hemolytic assays were carried out using Atlantic cod RBCs. AMPinduced lysis of eukaryotic cells was observed with the addition of C-terminally amidated

patient mure (AD-1 and (AD-2, Moh of these AMP exhibited humships attivity against Admits on RICA, GMO-1 was neve heavings: the GAD-2, with 425 humships of Admits of RICs at [25 gpt] compared to 325% for GAD-2 at the same concentration, GAD-1 exhibited *E*, coll growth inhibition at a succentration of 123 gpt], and at a succentration of 733 gpt], exhibiting 15% heavings; heaving at a succentration of 733 gpt], exhibiting 15% heavings; heaving at a succentration of 733 gpt], exhibiting 15% heavings; heaving 16% Historever, the MIC value agained *S* intermediate value of a partial analystic sched at this comparable associations was and a gradual particularly gpt 21% heavings; heaving 16% gpt] is negatived to lishibiting at a succentration of 23 and 25% and 23 and 23 and 25% gpt] is negatived to lishibiting particular particular particular states and the succentration in the state state of the GAD-1, but GAD-2 alse exhibited less heaving-as activity yeak heaving of a Si movemedian and *E* coli, respectively dwords following the mice CAD-1 is listic to a succentration of 23 and 35 gpt] is negatived but lishibiting area method heaving theorem. This is a vectored that at a succentration to listic state particular specific CAD-2.

OAD: Just GAD3 exhibite homopic activity compariso to rule full dynamic for example, Community mindlead, and an omatique foreignin it at a consentation of 100 gptin exhibitio 37 and 74 Si hemolysis of Januar RBCs, respectively (Cakannee et al., 2008). This is smoothing guart time the homopic activity of OAD3 (47) and OAD2 (22) Siya with Antone CBR/SC appropriate constraints of 23 gpaties. However, minitand pixelin-3 at a concentration of 100 gptin exhibited 59% homolysis while nonmanitated pixelin-3 coldied 15% homolysis. In contrast, versal ANMs hore little homolose (GBR) and GBR RCC at concentration of a to 50 gptil CVC at d., 2003) In addition, IMD-3 dd are child (e1/S3) cylothici effens againel huma REC, at encentrations up to 500 gyint (Dhople et al., 2006). Albragh Atlantic on REC, are used in the present weigh. ARP-should humain games in an accurate vary, and GAD-1 and GAD-2 should be toted accordingly to obtain an accurate representation of humolytic activity in human. These repetiments will aid in adversiving in gluocidin are suitable candidates for the development of novel human througenics.

GAD-1 and GAD-2 are paralogous transcripts (87% identity at the nucleotide level); however, they encode AMPs with a clear difference in activity and structure. It is possible that one of the gaduscidins was kept under selective evolutionary pressure due to its important function, while the other was left free to evolve another function. It is my hypothesis that GAD-1 was retained as an innate immune AMP, while GAD-2 evolved another unknown function. This is supported by our structural characterization - GAD-1 exhibited more AMP-like characteristics than GAD-2. For example, GAD-1 appeared to be more structured in the presence of deuterated SDS as determined by NMR, with a helix length of at least 13 residues compared to at least 8 residues for GAD-2. Similarly, CD spectroscopy determined that GAD-1 exhibited a clear trend toward u-helical propensity in the presence of TFE as well as zwitterionic (POPC) and anionic (POPG) liposomes. This is in contrast to GAD-2, which exhibited less structural change when exposed to the same conditions using CD and less α-helical character than GAD-1 as determined by NMR. In addition, GAD-1 also presented areater antimicrohial articity aminut E coll and S intermediar than GAD.2 It is amazent that GAD.2 may have

evolved a distinct function than GAD-1; however, more research is required to test this hypothesis.

AMPs hold much recently with respect to the development of neural antimicrohial drugs. Knowledge of AMP transcript expression, as well as physical interactions between AMPs and lipids, and antimicrobial and hemolytic activity is important in determining their mechanism of action. An important next step in the study of these AMPs is the elucidation of the exact mature peptide sequence, which should be generated by purifying these peptides from tissues where they are likely to be expressed in their mature, active form (aill for example), and subsequent sequencing. Also, anti-auduscidin antibodies should be carried out in order to immunolocalize these pentides to particular cell types: such protein expression studies would aid in the determination of GAD-1 and GAD-2 function. In addition, gene expression studies should be carried out to ascertain the signaling pathways influencing gaduscidin expression. Furthermore, experiments whereby GAD-1 and GAD-2 are injected into a model organism (ee. mouse), and subsequent multi-tissue gene expression profiling with microarray analysis and OPCR confirmation would reveal important information. These types of microarray experiments would give an indication of which genes would be up-regulated or down-regulated if these AMPs were to be used in future clinical applications. Finally, the elucidation of GAD-1 and GAD-2 3D structures with atomic resolution are also immortant to determine exactly how these nentides will interact with membraneous systems in viso.

## References

Aggarwal K, Silverman N. Positive and negative regulation of the Drosophila immune response. BMB Rep 2008; 41(4):267-277.

Appenyi MA, Pukala TL, Brinkworth CS, Maselli VM, Bowie JH, Tyler MJ, Booker GW, Wallace JC, Carver JA, Separovic F, Dayle J, Llewellyn LE. Host-defence periodes of Australian murans: structure, mechanism of action and evolutionary significance. Pepides 2004; 296(2):035-1054.

Arseniev AS, Barsukov IL, Bystrov VF, Lomize AL, Ovchinnikov Y. HI-NMR study of gramicidim A transmembrane ion channel. Head-to-head right-handed, single-stranded helices. FEBS Lett 1985; 186(2):168-174.

Bayele HK, Srai SK. Genetic variation in hepcidin expression and its implications for phenotypic differences in iron metabolism. Haematologica 2009; 94(9):1185-1188.

Bendtsen JD, Nielsen H, von Heijne G, Brunak S. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. J Mol Biol 2004; 340(4):783-795.

Bowman S. Hubert S. Higgins B. Stene C. Kimbill J. Horea T. Bunsey TT, Simpren G, Kozera G, Curtis BA, Hall JR, Hori TS, Feng CY, Rise M, Boeman M, Gampel AK, Trippel E, Symoods J. Johnson SC, Risk A. an Integratural Approach to Gene Discovery and Marker Development in Attunic Cod (Gadro snorbar). Mar Biotechnol in press. Accested Apr 15, 2010.

Browne MJ, Feng CY, Booth V, Rise ML. Characterization and expression studies of Gadaxielin-1 and Gadaxielin-2; paraloguus antimicrobial peptide-like transcripts from Atlantic cod (*Gadax morbus*). Dev Comp Immunol in press. Accepted Nov 16, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2010.11.010.

Campagna S, Saint N, Molle G, Aumelas A. Structure and mechanism of action of the antimicrobial peptide piscidin. Biochemistry 2007; 46(7):1771-1778. Cellura C, Toubiana M, Parrinello N, Roch P. Specific expression of antimicrobial peptide and HSP70 genes in response to heat-shock and several bacterial challenges in massels. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2007; 22(4):340-350.

Chekmeev IV, Vellmar IB, Forenth KT, Manion MN, Jones SM, Waper TJ, Endioett RM, Kyrins BP, Homen LM, Pater M, He J, Raines J, Gorkow PL, Brey WW, Mitchell DJ, Amani AJ, Bland-Ivey MJ, Blazy AJ. Conten M. Investigating molecular recognition and biological function at interfaces using piscidina, antimicrobial peptides from fish. Biochem Biophys Acta 2006; 175(99):1799-1372.

Chia TJ, Wu YC, Chen JY, Chi SC. Antimicrobial peptides (AMP) with antiviral activity against fish nedavirus. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2009.

Cole AM, Darouiche RO, Legarda D, Connell N, Diamond G. Characterization of a fish antimicrobial peptide: gene expression, subcellular localization, and spectrum of activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2000; 44(8):2009-2045.

Cole AM, Weis P, Diamend G. Isolation and characterization of pleurocidin, an antimicrobial peptide in the skin secretions of winter flounder. J Biol Chem 1997; 272(18):12008-12013.

Conlon JM, Kolodziejck J, Newotny N, Leprince J, Vaudry H, Coquet L, Jouenne T, King JD, Characterization of antimicrobial peptides from the skin secretions of the Malaysian frogs, Odorrawa haoil and Hylarawa pictorata (Anura:Ranidae). Toxicon 2008; 52(3):465–473.

Davidson DJ, Currie AJ, Reid GS, Bowdish DM, MacDonald KL, Ma RC, Hancock RE, Speert DP. The cationic antimicrobial peptide LL-37 modulates dendritic cell differentiation and dendritic cell-induced T cell polarization. J Immunol 2004; 172(2):1146-1156.

Dhople V, Krukemeyer A, Ramamoorthy A. The human beta-defensin-3, an antibucterial peptide with multiple biological functions. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006; 1758(9):1499-1512.

Douglas SE, Patzykat A, Pytyck J, Gallant JW. Identification, structure and differential expression of novel pleurocidins clustered on the genome of the winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus* (Walbaum), Eur J Biochem 2003; 270(18):3720-3730.

Epand RM, Epand RF. Domains in bacterial membranes and the action of antimicrobial agents. Mol Biosyst 2009; 5(6):580-587.

Feng CY, Johnson SC, Hori TS, Rise M, Hall JR, Gamperl AK, Hubert S, Kimhall J, Bownan S, Rise ML. Identification and analysis of differentially expressed genes in immune tissues of Atlantic cod stimulated with formalin-killed, atypical *Aeromonas* submonicide. *Physiol* Genemics 2009; 37(3):140-163.

Fernandes JM, Ruangsri J, Kiron V. Atlantic cod piscidin and its diversification through positive selection. PLoS One 2010; 5(3):e9501.

Fjell CD, Hancock RE, Cherkasov A. AMPer: a database and an automated discovery tool for antimicrobial peptides. Bioinformatics 2007; 23(9):1148-1155.

Gazit E, Miller IR, Biggin PC, Sansom MS, Shai Y. Structure and orientation of the mammalian antibacterial peptide cecropin P1 within phospholipid membranes. J Mol Biol 1996; 258(5):860-870.

Goddard, TD and Kneller, DG. SPARKY 3, University of California, San Francisco.

Gul S, Smith AD, Thompson RH, Wright HP, Zilkha KJ. Fatty acid composition of phospholipids from platelets and erythrocytes in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1970; 33(4):506-510.

Helmerhorst EJ, Breeuwer P, van't Hof W, Walgreen-Weterings E, Oomen LC, Veerman EC, Amerongen AV, Abee T. The cellular target of histatin 5 on *Candida albicans* is the energized mitochendrion. J Biol Chem 1999; 274(11):7286-7291.

Hori TS, Gampetl AK, Afonso LO, Johnsen SC, Hubert S, Kimball J, Bowman S, Rise ML. Heat-shock responsive genes identified and validated in Atlantic cod (*Gadat morhau*) liver, head kidney and skeletal muscle using genomic techniques. BMC Genomics 2010; 11:72.

Hori TS, Gamperl AK, Afonso LO, Johnson SC, Hubert S, Kimball J, Bowman S, Rise ML. Hear-shock responsive genes identified and validated in Atlantic cod (Gadar norhas) liver, head kidney and skeletal muscle using genomic techniques. BMC Genomics 2010: 11:72.

Hoskin DW, Ramamoorthy A. Studies on anticancer activities of antimicrobial peptides. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008: 1778(2):357-375.

Iijima N, Tanimoto N, Emoto Y, Morita Y, Uematsu K, Murakami T, Nakai T. Purification and characterization of three isoforms of chrysophsin, a novel antimicrobial peptide in the gills of the red sea bream, *Chrysophrys major*. Eur J Biochem 2003; 2704):475-465.

Jia X, Patrzykat A, Devlin RH, Ackerman PA, Iwama GK, Hancock RE. Antimicrobial peptides protect cobo salmon from *Vibrio anguillarum* infections. Appl Environ Microbiol 2000: 6651:1022.

Khandelia H, Ipsen JH, Mouritsen OG. The impact of peptides on lipid membranes. Biochim Biothys Acta 2008: 1778(7-8):1528-1536.

Kolls JK, McCray PB, Jr, Chan YR. Cytokine-mediated regulation of antimicrobial proteins. Nat Rev Immunol 2008; 8(11):829-835.

Koski LB, Gray MW, Lang BF, Burger G. AutoFACT: an automatic functional annotation and classification tool. BMC Bioinformatics 2005; 6:151.

Kragol G, Hoffmann R, Chattergeon MA, Lovas S, Cudie M, Bulet P, Condie BA, Rosengren KJ, Montaner LJ, Otvos LJP. Identification of croxial residues for the antibacterial activity of the proline-rich peptide, pyrtheoricin. Eur J Biochem 2002; 209(17):4226–4237.

Lai Y, Gallo RL. AMPed up immunity: how antimicrobial peptides have multiple roles in immune defense. Trends Immunol 2009; 30(3):131-141.

Lauth X, Shike H, Burns JC, Westerman ME, Ostland VE, Carlberg JM, Van Obs JC, Nizet V, Taylor SW, Shimizu C, Bulet P. Discovery and characterization of two isoforms of moronecidin, a novel antimicrobial peptide from hybrid striped bass. J Biol Chem 2002; 277(7):5030-5039.

Leontiadou H, Mark AE, Marrink SJ. Antimicrobial peptides in action. J Am Chem Soc 2006; 128(37):12156-12161.

Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 2001; 25(4):402-408.

Ludtke SJ, He K, Heller WT, Harroun TA, Yang L, Huang HW. Membrane pores induced by magainin. Biochemistry 1996; 35(43):13723-13728.

Luque-Ortega JR, varit Hof W, Veerman EC, Saugar JM, Rivas L. Human antimicrobial peptide histatin 5 is a cell-penetrating peptide targeting mitochondrial ATP synthesis in *Leishmania*. FASEB J 2008; 22(6):1817-1828.

Matsuzaki K, Murase O, Fujii N, Miyajima K. An antimicrobial peptide, magainin 2, induced rapid flip-flop of phospholipids coupled with pore formation and peptide translocation. Biochemistry 1996; 35(35):11361-11368.

Melo MN, Ferre R, Castanho MA. Antimicrobial peptides: linking partition, activity and high membrane-bound concentrations. Nat Rev Microbiol 2009; 7(3):245-250.

Mookherjee N, Hancock RE. Cationic host defence peptides: innate immune regulatory peptides as a novel approach for treating infections. Cell Mol Life Sci 2007; 64(7-8):922-933.

Mulero I, Noga EJ, Meseguer J, García-Ayala A, Mulero V. The antimicrobial peptides piscidins are stored in the granules of professional phagocytic granulocytes of fish and are delivered to the bacteria-containing phagosome upon phagocytosis. Dev Comp Immunol 2000; 321(2):1531-1538.

Myers JK, Pace CN, Scholtz JM. Trifluoroethunol effects on helix propensity and electrostatic interactions in the helical peptide from ribonuclease T1. Protein Sci 1998; 7(2):383-388. Nicolas P. Multifunctional host defense peptides: intracellular-targeting antimicrobial peptides. FEBS J 2009; 276(22):6483-6496.

Nielsen H, Engelbrecht J, Brunak S, von Heijne G. Identification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic signal peptides and prediction of their cleavage sites. Protein Eng 1997; 10(1):1-6.

Niyonsaba F, Someya A, Hirata M, Ogawa H, Nagaoka I. Evaluation of the effects of peptide antibiotics human beta-defensins-1/-2 and LL-37 on histamine release and prostaglandin D(2) production from mast cells. Eur J Immunol 2001; 31(4):1066-1075.

Noga EJ, Silphaduang U, Park NG, Seo JK, Stephenson J, Kozłowicz S. Piscidin 4, a Novel Member of the Piscidin Family of Antimicrobial Peptides. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 2009.

Otvos L,Jr. Antibacterial peptides and proteins with multiple cellular targets. J Pept Sci 2005; 11(11):697-706.

Pan CY, Chen JY, Cheng YS, Chen CY, Ni HJ, Sheen JF, Pan YL, Kao CM. Gene expression and localization of the epinecidin-1 antimicrobial peptide in the grouper (*Epinopholus coioide*), and its role in protecting fish against pathogenic infection. DNA Cell Biol 2007; 2466-403–413.

Park IY, Park CB, Kim MS, Kim SC. Parasin I, an antimicrobial peptide derived from histone H2A in the catfish, Parasilarus asonus. FEBS Lett 1998; 437(3):258-262.

Patrzykat A, Douglas SE. Gone gene fishing: how to catch novel marine antimicrobials. Trends Biotechnol 2003; 21(8):362-369.

Pouny Y, Rapaport D, Mor A, Nicolas P, Shai Y. Interaction of antimicrobial dermaseptin and its fluorescently labeled analogues with phospholipid membranes. Biochemistry 1992; 31(49):12416-12423.

Powers JP, Hancock RE. The relationship between peptide structure and antibacterial activity. Peptides 2003; 24(11):1681-1691.
Radyuk SN, Michalak K, Klichko VI, Benes J, Orr WC. Peroxiredoxin 5 modulates immune response in *Drosophila*. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010.

Rege K, Patel SJ, Megeed Z, Yarmush ML. Amphipathic peptide-based fusion peptides and immuneconjugates for the targeted ablation of prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 2007; 67(13):6368-6375.

Rise ML, Hall J, Rise M, Hori T, Gamperl AK, Kimball J, Hubert S, Bowman S, Johnson SC. Functional genomic analysis of the response of Atlantic cod (*Gadua morbas*) spleen to the viral mimic polyriboinosimic polyribocytidylic acid (pIC). Dev Comp Immunol 2008; 32(8):916-931.

Rise ML, Hall JR, Rise M, Hori TS, Browne MJ, Gamperl AK, Hubert S, Kimball J, Bowman S, Johnson SC. Impact of asymptomatic nodavirus carrier state and introperitoneal viral mimic injection on brain transcript expression in Atlantic cod (Gadws morhus). Physiol Genomics 2010; 242(2):260-280.

Robertson LS, Iwanowicz LR, Marranca JM, Identification of centrarchid hepeidins and evidence that 17beta-extradiol disrupts constitutive expression of hepeidin-1 and inducible expression of hepeidin-2 in largemouth boss (*Micropterus salmoides*). Fish Shellfish Immunol 2009; 246(3):89-097.

Rozek T, Wegener KL, Bowie JH, Olver IN, Carver JA, Wallace JC, Tyler MJ. The ambibitis and anticancer active aurein peptides from the Australian Bell Frogs Litoria aurear and Litoria raniformir the solution structure of aurein 1.2. Eur J Biochem 2000; 207(17):5310-5341.

Rozen S, Skaletsky H. Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods Mol Biol 2000; 132:365-386.

Ruangsri J, Fernandes JM, Brinchmann M, Kiron V. Antimicrobial activity in the tissues of Atlantic cod (Gadue morhua L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol 2010; 28(5–6):879-886. Salerno G, Parrinello N, Roch P, Cammanta M, eDNA sequence and tissue expression of an antimicrobial peptide, identracing: a new component of the moronecidin family isolated from head kidney leukocytes of sea bass, *Diconstructions Labrax*. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 2007; 146(4):521-529.

Sass V, Pag U, Tossi A, Bierbaum G, Sahl HG. Mode of action of human beta-defensin 3 against Supplylococcus aureur and transcriptional analysis of responses to defensin challenge. Int J Med Microbiol 2008; 298(7-8):619-633.

Silphaduang U, Colorni A, Noga EJ. Evidence for widespread distribution of piscidin antimicrobial peptides in teleost fish. Dis Aquat Organ 2006; 72(3):241-252.

Silphaduang U, Noga EJ. Peptide antibiotics in mast cells of fish. Nature 2001; 414(6861):268-269.

Smith R, Separovic F, Milne TJ, Whittaker A, Bennett FM, Cornell BA, Makriyannis A. Structure and orientation of the pore-forming peptide, meliitin, in lipid bilayers. J Mol Biol 1994; 241(3):456-466.

Seng W, Shi Y, Xiao M, Lu H, Qu T, Li P, Wu G, Tian Y. In vitro bactericidal activity of recombinant human beta-defensin-3 against pathogenic bacterial strains in human tooth root canal. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2009; 33(3):237-243.

Spellberg B, Powers JH, Brass EP, Miller LG, Edwards JE, Jr. Trends in antimicrobial drug development: implications for the future. Clin Infect Dis 2004; 38(9):1279-1286.

Stark M, Liu LP, Deber CM. Cationic hydrophobic peptides with antimicrobial activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002; 46(11):3585-3590.

Strahilevitz J, Mor A, Nicolas P, Shai Y. Spectrum of antimicrobial activity and assembly of demusceptin-b and its precursor form in phospholipid membranes. Biochemistry 1994; 33(36):10951-10960.

Subramanian S, Ross NW, MacKinnen SL. Myxinklin, a novel antimicrobial peptide from the epidermal mucus of hagfish, *Myxine glatinosa* L. Mar Biotechnol (NY) 2009; 11(6):748-757. Sun BJ, Xie HX, Song Y, Nie P. Gene structure of an antimicrobial peptide from mandarin fish, Siniperca cluatri (Basilewsky), suggests that moronecidins and pleurocidins belong in one family: the piscidins. J Fish Dis 2007; 30(6):335-343.

Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M, Kumar S. MEGA4: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. Mol Biol Evol 2007; 24(8):1596-1599.

Tieleman DP, Berendsen HJ, Sansom MS. An alamethicin channel in a lipid bilayer: molecular dynamics simulations. Biophys J 1999; 76(4):1757-1769.

Van Wetering S, Mannesse-Lazeroms SP, Van Sterkenburg MA, Daha MR, Dijkman JH, Hiemstra PS. Effect of defensins on interfeukin-8 synthesis in airway epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 1997; 272(5 Pt 1):L888-96.

Westerhoff HV, Juretic D, Hendler RW, Zasloff M. Magainins and the disruption of membrane-linked free-energy transduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1989; 86(17):6597-6601.

Wuthrich, K. NMR of Proteins and Nucleic Acids. 1986.

Xu X, Li J, Lu Q, Yang H, Zhang Y, Lai R. Two families of antimicrobial peptides from wasp (*Vespa magnifica*) venom. Toxicon 2006; 47(2):249-253.

Yang D, Biragyn A, Kwak LW, Oppenheim JJ. Mammalian defensins in immunity: more than just microbicidal. Trends Immunol 2002; 23(6):291-296.

Yang D, Chertov O, Oppenheim JJ. Participation of mammalian defensins and cathelicidins in anti-microbial immunity: receptors and activities of human defensins and cathelicidin (LL-37). J Leakoe Biol 2001; 69(5):691-697.

Yang, J.T. Wu C.S.C. Martinez, H.M. Calculation of protein conformation [] from circular dichroism, Meth. Enzymol 1986; 130:208-269.

Yang L, Harroun TA, Weiss TM, Ding L, Huang HW. Barrel-stave model or toroidal model? A case study on melittin pores. Biophys J 2001; 81(3):1475-1485.

Zaeloff M. Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. Nature 2002; 415(6870):389-395.

Zhang YM, Rock CO. Membrane lipid homeostasis in bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 2008; 6(3):222-233.

Zheng Y, Niyonsaba F, Ushio H, Nagaoka I, Ikeda S, Okumura K, Ogawa H. Cathelicidin LL-37 induces the generation of reactive oxygen species and release of human alpha-defensins from neutrophils. Br J Dermatol 2007; 157(6):1124-1131

## Supplemental figure S1

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
PBS 0 hour pre-injected virus carrier status		٠				٠		•
ASAL Show one injurted	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
virus carrier status		•	٠	•			·	
selected non-stressed individuals	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
virus carrier status	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠
selected non-stressed individuals	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	÷
virus carrier status							•	
No template								

109

Supplemental Figure S1, Brain nodavirus RT-PCR results for fish used in the OPCR studies to determine if high nodavirus carrier state significantly influenced brain, spleen, or head kidney GAD-1 or GAD-2 transcript expression. RT-PCR was conducted on brain total RNA from 8 PRS tank 0 h (newiniected) individuals and 8 ASAL tank 0 h (nee-injected) individuals (ton 2 tiers), as well as 8 selected high nodavirus carrier state and 8 selected no/low nodavirus carrier state samples. All samples were taken from unstressed (0 h. pre-injected) fish (See footnotes of Supplemental Table S2 for details). Sample PBS 0 h fish number 4 showed a weak positive band in previous studies (Rise et al. 2008: Rise et al. 2010) that used a different RT-PCR protocol (i.e. different thermal cycler, higher quantity of cDNA template, and higher volume of PCR reaction loaded on gel); in OPCR analysis for 4 genes (ISG15, DHX58, RSAD2, and SACS), this individual behaved as a "no/low" nodavirus carrier sample (Rise et al., 2010). Sample PBS 0 h fish number 4 was categorized as a "noflow" carrier sample in the current study based on RT-PCR results. The PBS 0 h and ASAL 0 h samples were used to determine if high nodavirus carrier state significantly influenced GAD-1 or GAD-2 transcript expression (QPCR RQ values) in head kidney or spleen (Supplemental Table S5). The selected high nodavirus carrier state and no/low nodavirus carrier state samples were used to determine if high nodavirus carrier state significantly influenced GAD-1 or GAD-2 transcript expression (OPCR RQ values) in brain (Supplemental Table S4). Nodavirus RT-PCR readuct mean nixel intensity values for each sample can be found in Supplemental Table S2. See Materials and methods (section 2.4) for determination of carrier status

Supplemental Table SL Identification of transcripts representing GAD-1 (A) and GAD-2 (B), which were obtained from the Atlantic Cod Genomics and Broodstock Development (CGP) Expressed Sequence Tag (EST) database (http://www.colgene.ca).

Λ.

CGP Library identifier	Library type	Tissar	Treatment	EST Accession No.
gmnlkfas	SSH forward	bead kidney	ASAL.	EY972641
gmnlkras	SSH reverse	bead kidney	ASAL	EY974225
granikras	SSB reverse	head kidney	ASAL	EY973733
genbyits	Normalized	pit	6092	FG315806, FG315061*

в

CGP Library identifier	Library type	Timue	Treatment	EST Accession No.
preblikas	Normalized	head kidney	ASAL.	ES773100, FF411786*
gmnl2pia	Normalized	blood	pIC&ASAL	FG313979
gmolkfu	SSH forward	head kidney	heat shock	EX190088
gmulsfic	SSH forward	spleen	pIC	ES784714
gnulsfic	SSII forward	spleen	plC	ES786084
grinhfic	SSH forward	splees	pIC	ES785365
gnulsfic	SSH forward	spleen	pIC	ES787243

"ESTs that were generated from the same clone were listed in the same row."

Supplemental Table S2. Mean pixel intensities of nodavirus RT-PCR products from individual

ASAL and PBS sample ID <sup>1</sup>	Mean pixel intensity	Carrier	Brain study sample ID <sup>2</sup>	Mean pixel intensity	Carrier status
ASAL 0h 1	4465	po/low	1	24212	high
ASAL 0b 2	3831	nolow	2	25182	high
ASAL 0h 3	12240	high	3	28135	high
ASAL 0h 4	21964	high	4	33733	high
ASAL 0h 5	3706	no/low	5	26939	high
ASAL 0h 6	3143	no/low	6	29076	high
ASAL 067	21466	bigh	7	33658	high
ASAL 0h 8	957	nollow	8	25615	high
PBS 0h 1	662	no/low	9	5887	no/low
PBS 0h 2	10973	high	10	5198	no/low
PBS 0h 3	1323	no/low	11 .	-4618	no/low
PBS 0h 4	1959	po/low	12	4224	no/low
PBS 0h 5	2664	mo/low	13	3735	no/low
PBS 0h 6	22980	high	14	3175	no/low
PBS 0h 7	3538	nollow	15	2179	mo/low
PBS 0h 8	2995	no/low	16	1073	no/low

Atlantic cod brain samples involved in this study.

<sup>1</sup>The sample ID correspond the the sampe ID referred in Supplemental Table SS and S6. Sample 1, 2, 8, and 10 are individual from the 0<sup>th</sup> in indicated control props in Rise et al., 2008. Sample 3, and 1 are individual from the 0<sup>th</sup> indicated control props in Rise et al., 2008. Sample 3 and 5 are individual from Rise Rise and ASAI. (B) A respectively. Sample 1 and 1 are iterational replacence of ASAI. (B) and ASAI. (B) A respectively. Sample 1 and 1 are iterational replacence of ASAI. (B) and ASAI. (B) A respectively. Sample 1 and 1 are iterational replacence of ASAI. (B) and ASAI. (B) A respectively. Sample 1 and 1 are iterational replacence of ASAI. (B) and ASAI. (B) A respectively. Sample 1 and 1 are iterational replacence of ASAI. (B) and ASAI. (B) A respectively. Supplemental Table S3. QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) Data for the constitutive

expression study of GAD-1 (A) and GAD-2 (B), normalized to 185 Ribosomal RNA.

Λ.

Trend	No <sup>1</sup>	RQ		Ave.RQ	SD	SEM
Bland			10.64	25.81	17.59	8.79
Blood	5		36.30			
Blood	6		13.55			
Blood	7		48,76			
Brain	2		1.45	2.58	1.65	0.67
Deale	3		3.54			
Brain	4		3.18			
Brain	5		1			
Brain			1.13			
Brain	7		5.13			
GIE	2		9.15	201.84	321.19	131.12
Giff	3		368.79			
Coll.			799.53			
Gill	5		22.45			
Cirll I			4.51			
Gill	7		16.67			
Head kidney	2		51,96	322.23	326.32	133.22
Fload kidney	3		745.35			
Flead kidney	4					
Head kidney	5		\$1.00			
Head kidney	6		62.31			
Head kidney	7		267,97			
Polarie carcum	2		7.971	10.85	11.17	4.55
Pologic carciers	3		11.87			
Poleric corcam	4		32.68			
Pologic caecam	5		2.31			
Poloric carciers	6		5.01			
Pyleric caecam	7		5.25			
Selece	2		461.81	406.10	360.64	147.23
Sedoon	3		597.3			
Sedante	10		1011.12			
Sedeces	5		90.75			
Sedecen	6		114.10			
Salora			161.44			

8

Timue	No RQ		Ave.RQ	50	SEM
Blood	2	292.72	442.93	365.17	182.59
Blood	5	385.87			
Blood		125.40			
Blood	7	956.54			
Brain	2		2.99	1.89	8.77
Denin	3	4.20			
Brain	4	1.78			
Brain	5	3.49			
Denie		1.52			
Brain	7	5.93			
GR		817.64	605.31	348.23	142.16
100		417.96			
68		1187.16			
Gill	5	588.35			
648		233.79			
Gill	7	371.45			
Head hidson	2	754.46	435.72	329.42	134.49
Head kidney	3	342.38			
Head kidney	4	1294.93			
Head kidney	5	504.76			
Head kidney		502.00			
Head kidney	7	525.88			
Polorie carrows	2	3.90	5.77	4.36	1.78
Poloric carcines	3	2.50			
Polycic carriers		13.79			
Poloric carcorn	5	4.79			
Poloric carcore		2.51			
Pyloric caexam	7	8.71			
Salara	2	1311.24	1843.86	1581.47	645.63
Sedeves	3	671.16			
Seleve	4	4147.76			
Selece	5	448.85			
Selece		964.88			
Salara	2	1501.62			

"The individual 1 was not selected date to compromised template quality.

For blood, the normalizer CT values of individuals 3 and 4 were outliers.

and these two individuals were removed from the ana you.

Supplemental Table S4. OPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for GAD-1 (A) and GAD-2

(B) and analysis of any impact of nedavirus carrier status on these genes in the brain, normalized to 18S Ribosomal RNA.

л

Sample ID <sup>7</sup>	Carrier status	Mean pixel intensity	RQ	Ave. RQ	SD	SEM
1	high	24212	10.75	8.29	5.98	
2	high	25182	19.65			
3	high	28135	11.20			
4	high	33733	3.15			
5	high	26/939	4.73			
	high	29076	3.34			
7	high	33658	11.14			
	high	25615	2.37			
9	notice	5887		4.69	3.14	
10	nolow	5198	4.52			
11	nothew	4618	1.00			
12	nofew	4224	9.93			
1.5	noticer	3735	1.44			
14	min farmi	3175	7.80			
15	notion	2179	5.98			
16	noden	1073	4.63			

<sup>7</sup>The sample ID correspond the sample ID referred in Supplemental Table S2, see footnotes of Supplemental Table S2 for more details.

в

Surple ID	Carrier status	Mean pixel intensity	RQ	Ave. RQ	SD	SEM
1	high	24212	7.99	4.70	2.44	0.86
2	high	25182	8.93			
3	bight	28135	5.00			
4	bight	33733	4.11			
5	bight	26930	3.16			
6	high	29076	1.40			
7	high	33658	4.64			
	high	25615	2.99			
- 9	notione	5887	7.08		3.33	1.18
10	no low	5198	3.16			
11	nolow	4618	4,74			
12	min forw	4224	3.57			
13	no low	3735	1.00			
14	noticer	3175	4.15			
15	mo love	2179	5.01			
16	max former	1073	12.14			

Supplemental Table SS, QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for the study determining any effect of nodavirus status on non-stressed (0 h) immune tissues, normalized to 185 Ribosonal RNA.

Supplemental Table SSA. QPCR analysis of GAD-1 expression in non-stressed (0 h) cod head kidney tissue and determination of any impact of nodavirus-carrier status on its expression

Treatment tank	Time point	Ne <sup>2</sup>	Mean pixel intensity	Carrier	RQ	Ave. BQ	SD	SEM
PBS	0	1	667	molena	4.33	20.54	2.71	
PBS		2	10973	high	17.60			
PBS		3	1325	nolow	22.55			
PBS	0	4	1959	nolow	3.15			
PBS		5	2664	molese	20.31			
PBS	0	6	22980	high	7.32			
Anal		3	12240	high	18.35	7.49	7.35	3.29
Anal	0	4	21964	high	11.85			
Anal	0	5	3706	nolow	2.29			
Asal			3143	nolow	1.39			
Anal	0	7	21466	high	3.60			

'As obtained from Supplemental Table S2.

Supplemental Table SSB, QPCR analysis of GAD-2 expression in non-stressed (0 h) cod head kidney tissue and determination of any impact of nodavirus-carrier status on its expression

Treatment.	Time		Mean pixel	Carrier	-		-	
tank	point	No	encovery	vipter	RQ	Ave. RQ	SD	N/M
2BS	0	1	662	no low	12.63	10.16	1.89	0.77
PBS	0	2	10973	high	11.43			
PBS		3	1323	no lew	9,77			
PBS		4	19.99	nolew	8.12			
PBS	0	5	2564	no few	7.93			
PBS		6	22960	high	11.09			
Asal	0	3	12240	high	4.55	5.09	1.63	0.73
Asal		4	21964	high	7,37			
Asal	0	5	3706	nolow	4.44			
Asal		6	3143	no low	3.10			
Anal	0	7	21466	high	6.00			

Treatment tank	Time	No	Mean pixel intensity	Cartier	RQ	Ave. RQ	SD	SEM
PBS	0	1	66.2	notow	5.96	7.76	5.86	2.39
PBS	0	2	10973	high	7.23			
PBS	0	3	1323	inc low	16.68			
PBS	0	4	1959	merflerw'	1.55			
PBS	0	5	2664	mollow	12.57			
PBS		6	22985	high	2.57			
And		2	3831	mollow	4.60	6.97	7.03	2.87
Asal	0	3	12240	high	18.82			
Anal		4	22964	high	12.26			
Anal		5	3706	nolow	1.34			
Anal		6	3143	moderar	2.53			
Asal		7	21466	high	2.29			

Supplemental Table SSC. QPCR analysis of GAD-1 expression in non-stressed (0 h) cod spleen tissue and determination of any impact of podavirus-carrier status on its expression

Supplemental Table S5D. QPCR analysis of GAD-2 expression in non-stressed (0 h) cod sphere tissue and determination of any impact of nodavirus-carrier status on its expression

Treatment	Time point	No	Mean pixel intensity	Carrier status	RQ	Ave. RQ	SD	SEM
PRS	0	1	662	nollow	3.29	3.68	1.06	0.43
PBS	0	2	10973	high	3.87			
PRS	0	3	1323	nolow	4.74			
PBS	0	4	1959	novlow	3.48			
PBS	0	5	2664	notiow	4.77			
PBS	0	6	22980	high	1.91			
Asal	0	2	3831	no low	9.16	5.83	3.07	
Anal	0	3	12240	bight	2.91			
Asal	0	4	21964	high	9.26			
Anal	0	5	3705	nechow	3.66			
Anal	0	6	3143	norbow	2.57			
Asal	0	7	21466	high	7.10			

Supplemental Table S6. QPCR Relative Quantification (RQ) data for the immune tissue (head kidney and spleen) study, normalized to 18S ribosomal RNA.

Supplemental Table S6A. QPCR analysis of GAD-1 expression in head kidney

Treatment	Time	No	RO	Ase. RO	SD	SEM	Fold up-regulated (Ase, RQ)/(Ase, (Br RO)	Fold down regulated 1/(fold up regulated)
PBS		1	4.33	10.84	7.71	3.15	1.0	1.0
PBS	0	2	17.60					
PBS	0	3	22.55					
PIKS	0	4	3.15					
PBS			10.11					
PBS	0	6	7.32					
PBS	2		13.14	5.79	5.76	2.18	0.5	1.9
PBS	2	2	1.45					
PBS	2	3	1.70					
PBS	2	4	2.33					
PBS	2	5	6.08					
PBS	2	6	14.55					
PBS	2	7	1.25					
PBS	6	1	5.91	3.85	3.30	1.25	0.4	2.8
PBS	6	2	3.47					
PBS	6	3	10.35					
PBS	6	4	1.80					
PBS	6	5	1.51					
PBS	6	6	1.00					
PBS	6	7	2.92					
PBS	24	1	6.12	10.07	5.92	2.24	0.9	1.1
PBS	24	2	10.27					
PBS	24	3	8.11					
PBS	24	4	3.47					
PBS	24	5	12.37					
PBS	24	6	8.32					
PBS	24	7	21.86					
PBS	72	3	11.05	14.00	2.21	0.99	1.3	0.8
PBS	72	4	15.88					
PBS	72	5	16.50					
PBS	72	6	13.36					
PBS	72	7	13.23					
Asal	0	3	18.35	7,49	7.35	3.29	1.0	1.0
Asal	0	4	11.85					
Asal	0	5	2.29					
Asal	0	6	1.39					
Aust			3.60					

Asal	2	1	3.42	8.13	7,70	2.91	1.1	0.9
Asal	2	2	2.33					
Asal	2	3	2.06					
Asal	2	4	14.55					
Asal	2	5	21.58					
Asal	2	6	10.68					
Asal	2	7	2.29					
Asal	6	1	1.92	9.11	6.14	2.51	1.2	0.8
Asal	- 6	2	4.17					
Asal	6	3	6.99					
Asal	6	-4	17.43					
Asal	6	5	8.84					
Asal	6	6	15.31					
Asal	24	1	1.88	3.28	3.13	1.18	0.4	2.3
Asal	24	2	1,00					
Asal	24	3	1.06					
Asal	24	4	1.22					
Asal	24	5	4.56					
Asal	24	6	3.59					
Asal	24	7	9.65					
Asal	72	1	6.29	6.83	1.33	0.50	0.9	1.1
Asal	72	2	8.17					
Asal	72	3	8.41					
Asal	72	4	7.51					
Asal	72	5	6.91					
Asal	72	6	5.71					
Asal	72	7	4.77					

<sup>1</sup>The individual ASAL 0H 1 was not selected due to compromised template quality. Also, the scenalizer CT values of PBS 0H individual 7, PBS 72H individuals 1 and 2, ASAL 0H individual 2 and ASAL 0H individual 7 were outliers, and these individuals were removed from the analysis.

Treatment	Time		80	Ane.	-	SEM	Fold up-regulated (Ase, BQ9(Ase, (b) RO)	Fold down regulated
1078	press.	-	12.42	942	1.00	0.00	10	1 contraposation
1000		-	12.85	10.39	1.89			
1.000								
1000	- 2	- 2						
100	- 2	- 21	7.00					
1985		. 6	11.09					
785			9.85	9.74	3.65	1.45	1.0	1.0
2985	2	2	11.83					
PRS	2	2	10.64					
PB(5	2	4	11.64					
PBIS	2	5	11.29					
PR6	- 2		11.94					
2985	2	7	1.90					
785			7.72	3.64	4.11	1.55	0.9	1.2
PBS	-	2	5.44					
PBS	6	3	7.36					
PBIS	- 6	4	16.25					
P805		5	6.42					
PBS-	6	6	12.25					
PBS	6	7	5.05					
PBS	24	1	8.79	10.08	5.65	2.14	1.0	1.0
PBS	24	2	19,80					
PBS	24	- 2	6.51					
PBS	24	4	11.09					
PBS	24	5	8.04					
PBS	24		2.43					
PBS	-24	7	14.28					
PBS	72	3	14.96	10.72	3.76	1.68	1.1	0.9
PBS	72	- 5	6.74					
PBS	72	2	8,40					
PBS	72		14.50					
PHS	.72	2	9,00					
Asal	.0	3	4.55	5.09	1.63	0.73	1.0	1.0
Asal		4	7.37					
Asal		5	4,44					
Anal		6	3.10					
Asal	1.0	2	8.00					
Anal	2	1	4.55	4.07	2.89	1.09	1.8	1.2
Anal	- 2	2	3.62					
Anal	2		1.19					
Anal	2	4	2,49					
Anal			- 22					

## Supplemental Table S6B. QPCR analysis of GAD-2 expression in head kidney

Asel	2	6	1.54					
Asal	2	7	9.61					
Asal	6	1	2.60	3.63	1.32	0.54	0.7	1.4
Asal	6	2	2.57					
Asal	6	3	3.12					
Asal	6	4	3.28					
Asal	- 6	5	4.15					
Asal	6	6	6.07					
Asal	24	1	3.52	5.08	2.87	1.08	1.0	1.0
Asal	24	2	3.02					
Asal	24	3	3.89					
Asal	24	-4	9.38					
Asal	24	5	1.36					
Asal	24	6	7.16					
Asal	24	7	7.23					
Asal	72	1	1.69	1.87	0.81	0.31	0.4	2.7
Asal	72	2	2.98					
Asal	72	3	2.73					
Asal	72	-4	1.00					
Asal	72	5	2.31					
Asal	72	6	1.02					
Asal	72	7	1.34					

<sup>1</sup>The individual ASAL0011 was not selected due to compremised template quality. Also, the normalizer CT values of PBS 001 individual 7, PBS 7201 individuals 1 and 2, ASAL001 individual 2 and ASAL001 individual 7 were outliers, and these individuals were removed from the analysis.

## Supplemental Table S6C. QPCR analysis of GAD-1 expression in spleen

Treatment tank	Time	No <sup>1</sup>	RO	Ave. RO	SD	SEM	Fold up- regulated (Ave. RQ) (Ave. 0hr RO)	Fold down-regulated
PBS	0	1	5.96	7.76	5.86	2.39	1.0	1.0
PRS	0	2	7.23					
PBS	0	3	16.68					
PBS	0	4	1.55					
PRS	0	5	12.57					
PBS	0	6	2.57					
PBS	2	T	29.80	13.96	11.32	4.62	1.8	0.6
PBS	2	2	3.73					
PBS	2	3	4.27					
PBS	2	4	12.19					
PBS	2	5	7.61					
PBS	2	6	26.13					
PBS	6	4	1.79	1.37	0.40	0.23	0.2	5.7
PBS	6	5	1.32					
PBS	6	6	1.00					
PBS	24	3	16.07	10.85	5.14	2.30	1.4	0.7
PBS	24	4	3.31					
PBS	24	5	13.70					
PBS	24	6	13.15					
PBS	24	7	8.02					
PBS	72	2	3.37	8.43	6.69	3.35	1.1	0.9
PBS	72	3	4.18					
PBS	72	-4	17.95					
PBS	72	5	8.22					
Asal	0	2	4.60	6.97	7.03	2.87	1.0	1.0
Asal	0	3	18.82					
Asal	0	-4	12.26					
Asal	0	5	1.34					
Asal	0	6	2.53					
Asal	0	7	2.29					
Asal	2	2	3.37	24,78	21.93	9.81	3.6	0.3
Asal	2	3	8.52					
Asal	2	-4	36,76					
Asal	2	5	18.54					
Asal	2	6	56.70					
Asal	6	2	14.40	11.69	3.86	1.73	1.7	0.6
Asal	6	3	12.88					
Asal	6	4	10.00					
Asal	6	5	15.35					

Asal	6	.6	5.82					
Asal	24	2	1.77	4.74	5.76	2.35	0.7	1.5
Anal	24	3	1.00					
Anal	24	4	1.33					
Anal	24	5	3.71					
Anal	24	6	4.72					
Asal	24	7	16.10					
And	72		8.18	8.77	3.74	1.41	1.3	0.5
Anal	72	2	10.15					
Anal	72	3	3.75					
Aud	72	4	7.99					
Anal	72	5	5.39					
Asal	72		10.84					
Anal	72	7	15.11					

<sup>1</sup>The individuals PIRS 681 , 2 and 3, no well as ASAL 1811 were not velocited data to compromised equations. Also, the neuralinear CT values of PIRS 681 6individual 7, PIRS 281 6individual 7, PIRS 581 6individual 7, PIRS 582 6individual 7, PIRS 583 6individual 7, PIRS 582 6individual 7, PIRS 583 6indived 7, PIRS 583 6individual 7, PIRS 583

Treatment	Time	N	80	Ave.	50	SEM	Fold up- regulated (Ave. RQ9'(Ave. 0hr RO3	Fold down regulated
PRIS	0	1	1.79	3.68	1.06	0.43	1.0	1.0
PRS		- 2	3.87					
PRES			4.74					
2125			3.44					
PERS		-	4.77					
1000		1.2	1.04					
PBS	2	1	9.86	7.89	2.11	0.86	2.1	0.5
PRIS	5		9.89					
PBS	- 2		6.10					
1105	5		0.35					
PBS	- 2		4.97					
1005			7.70					
PBS			7.01	5.30	1.54	1.05	1.4	0.7
PERS	- 2		5.57					
PBS			3.34					
1.002								
PBS	74		5.45	4.14	3.77	1.01	1.1	6.9
17355	24		6.92					
PBS	24		4.43					
THE .	24	- 2	2.64					
PBS	24		1.20					
			1.47					
205	72	2	1.00	3.50	1.74	0.87	1.0	1.1
PBS	72	÷.	4.13					
WERE C		- 2	5.03					
1995	- 75	-	3.83					
And			10.14	5.83	3.07	1.25	1.0	1.0
Anal		ŝ	2.91					
And			10.74					
And		-	3.98					
And		6	2.57					
And			7.10					
Anal	2	2	7.69	8.35	4.85	2.17	1.4	0.7
And	12	3	5.27					
Anal		1.0	11.71					
And	1.2		2.51					
And	1.5		14.58					
And		2	13.29	12.29	6.75	3.02	2.1	0.5
Anal	1.0	1	6.95					
Asal	6	4	14.35					
Acres	12		23.00					

Supplemental Table S6D. QPCR analysis of GAD-2 expression in splcen

<sup>1</sup>The individuals PBS 6H 1, 2 and 3, as well as ASAL 0H 1 were not selected due to compromised template quality. Also, the normalizer CT values of PBS 0H individual 7, PBS 2H individual 7, PBS 3E individual 7, PBS 2H individuals 1 and 2, PBS 72H individuals 1 and 7, ASAL 2H individuals 1 and 7, ASAL 6H individuals 1 and 7, and ASAL , 2H individual were removed from the analysis.







